FGC - 670.1 (3/94)

A PETITION TO THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FISH AND GAME COMMISSION

For action pursuant to Section 670.1, Title 14, California Code of Regulations (CCR) and Sections 2072 and 2073 of the Fish and Game Code relating to listing and delisting endangered and threatened species of plants and animals.

I. SPECIES BEING PETITIONED:

Common Name: Temblor legless lizard

Scientific Name: Anniella alexanderae

II. RECOMMENDED ACTION:

(Check appropriate categories)

a. List __X_ b. Change Status

As Endangered _X from _____

As Threatened _X to _____

Or Delist ____

III. AUTHOR OF PETITION:

Name: Shaye Wolf

Address: Center for Biological Diversity

1212 Broadway, Suite 800, Oakland, CA 94612

Phone Number: (415) 385-5746

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, all statements made in this petition are true and complete.

Signature:	Shaye Wolf	

Date: _____ November 18, 2021

BEFORE THE CALIFORNIA FISH AND GAME COMMISSION

PETITION TO LIST THE TEMBLOR LEGLESS LIZARD (Anniella alexanderae) AS AN ENDANGERED OR THREATENED SPECIES UNDER THE CALIFORNIA ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT (CESA)



CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY NOVEMBER 18, 2021



Notice of Petition

For action pursuant to Section 670.1, Title 14, California Code of Regulations (CCR) and Division 3, Chapter 1.5, Article 2 of the California Fish and Game Code (Sections 2070 *et seq.*) relating to listing and delisting endangered and threatened species of plants and animals.

I. SPECIES BEING PETITIONED:

Species Name: Temblor legless lizard (Anniella alexanderae)

II. RECOMMENDED ACTION: Listing as Endangered or Threatened

The Center for Biological Diversity submits this petition to list the Temblor legless lizard (*Anniella alexanderae*) as Endangered or Threatened pursuant to the California Endangered Species Act (California Fish and Game Code §§ 2050 et seq., "CESA").

This petition demonstrates that the Temblor legless lizard is eligible for and warrants listing under CESA based on the factors specified in the statute and implementing regulations. Specifically, the Temblor legless lizard meets the definition of an "endangered species" since it is a "native species or subspecies of a … reptile…which is in serious danger of becoming extinct throughout all, or a significant portion, of its range due to one or more causes, including loss of habitat, change in habitat, overexploitation, predation, competition, or disease." Cal. Fish & Game Code § 2062. Alternatively, we request that the California Fish and Game Commission consider listing of the Temblor legless lizard as a "threatened species" which is "a native species or subspecies of a … reptile that, although not presently threatened with extinction, is likely to become an endangered species in the foreseeable future in the absence of the special protection and management efforts …." Cal. Fish & Game Code § 2067.

III. AUTHOR OF PETITION:

Shaye Wolf, Ph.D. Center for Biological Diversity 1212 Broadway, Suite 800 Oakland, CA 94612 (415) 385-5746 swolf@biologicaldiversity.org

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, all statements made in this petition are true and complete.

Signature:

Shaye Wolf

Date: November 18, 2021

Table of Contents

I. Introduction			
II. Life History 1			
A. Taxonomy1			
B. Genetic Differentiation			
C. Species Description			
D. Biology			
Reproduction, Growth and Lifespan4			
Burrowing Behavior and Movement 4			
Temperature Requirements			
Diet and Foraging Behavior			
Predators			
III. Habitat Necessary for Survival			
IV. Range			
V. Distribution			
VI. Abundance			
VII. Population Trend			
VIII. Factors Affecting Ability to Survive and Reproduce			
A. Oil and Gas Development			
Oil and gas development is extensive in the Temblor legless lizard's limited range			
Overview of harms from oil and gas development			
Habitat loss and fragmentation			
Soil compaction, loss of native plant life, changes in soil moisture			
Noise and light pollution			
Oil spills and produced water spills			
Wastewater disposal pits			
B. Urbanization			
C. Industrial Solar Projects			
D. Climate Change			
E. Invasive Species			
IX. Degree and Immediacy of Threat			
X. Inadequacy of Existing Regulatory Mechanisms			

A. Federal Regulatory Mechanisms	
Oil and Gas Development	
Climate Change	29
Threats Reduction and Habitat Protection	30
B. State Regulatory Mechanisms	32
Oil and Gas Development	32
Climate Change	32
Threats Reduction and Habitat Protection	33
C. Local Regulatory Mechanisms	34
Oil and Gas Development	34
Threats Reduction and Habitat Protection	34
XI. Recommended Management and Recovery Actions	34
XII. Conclusion	35
XIII. References	36

Executive Summary

The Center for Biological Diversity submits this petition to list the Temblor legless lizard (*Anniella alexanderae*) as Endangered or Threatened pursuant to the California Endangered Species Act (California Fish and Game Code §§ 2050 et seq., "CESA").

Following Section 670.1, Title 14, California Code of Regulations, petitioners present scientific information regarding life history, population trend, range, distribution, abundance, kind of habitat necessary for survival, factors affecting the ability to survive and reproduce, degree and immediacy of threat, impact of existing management efforts, suggestions for future management, availability of sources and information, and a detailed distribution map.

First identified in 1852, the California legless lizard, genus *Anniella*, is found only in California and Baja California, Mexico. Originally considered to consist of two distinct species, *A. pulchra* and *A. geronimensis*, Papenfuss and Parham (2013) formally split *A. pulchra* into five distinct species in 2013 based on genetic and morphological differences, including the species *Anniella alexanderae*, the Temblor legless lizard.

The Temblor legless lizard is a unique and rare reptile that is only found in a few locations in the San Joaquin Valley in central California. It can be distinguished from a snake due to its eyelids and detachable tail which is used to escape predators. The lizard's preferred habitat is sandy alkali desert scrub with plenty of loose soil and leaf litter for burrowing and hunting. Legless lizards are the only sand swimming specialists in California.

The Temblor legless lizard is restricted to an exceedingly small range estimated at only 1,720 square kilometers along the east side of the Temblor Mountains, from the western edge of Kern County north to western Fresno County. It is currently known to exist at only four sites, three of which are on private land.

The lizard is immediately threatened by extensive oil and gas development in its restricted range. Three of the four sites where the lizard has been detected are within oil field boundaries and surrounded by extensive oil and gas development. In total, 31 oil fields overlap the lizard's range, and more than 98% of its range is already open or potentially available to oil and gas development. The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) recently concluded that oil and gas development could propel the Temblor legless lizard to Critically Endangered status or extinction in the near future.

Oil and gas development threatens the Temblor legless lizard by destroying and fragmenting its habitat; compacting soil, altering soil moisture, and removing native plants; spilling oil and produced water; noise and light pollution; and worsening climate change. Oil and produced water spills are rampant in the Temblor legless lizard's restricted range, including at least 20 "surface expression" spills since 2019, two of which are currently active.

State and local agencies continue to approve thousands of new oil and gas permits each year in California, a substantial portion of which are in the 31 oil fields overlapping the species' habitat. Kern County, where the majority of remaining Temblor legless lizard habitat is located, is attempting to streamline oil and gas permitting to make future approvals for projects faster and

hidden from public scrutiny. In 2019 the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) opened up oil and gas drilling and fracking on more than one million acres of public lands and mineral estate in Central California, including a significant portion of the Temblor legless lizard's restricted range. In 2020, the BLM approved the first oil and gas lease sales of federal public lands in California in eight years, covering 4,000 acres in Kern County, including one large parcel at the southern end of the Temblor legless lizard's range.

The Temblor legless lizard is also threatened by urban development, industrial solar development, invasive grasses and non-native wild pigs, and rising temperatures and changes in moisture caused by climate change. No existing regulatory mechanism are currently in place at the national, state or local levels that adequately address the threats facing *A. alexanderae*.

The Temblor legless lizard is currently listed as Species of Special Concern in California. It is designated as vulnerable by the IUCN, and as a G1 and S1 critically imperiled species at the global and state level by NatureServe. In 2019 experts on the species recommended listing the Temblor legless lizard under the California and federal Endangered Species Act.

This petition demonstrates that the Temblor legless lizard is eligible for and warrants listing under CESA based on the factors specified in the statute and implementing regulations. Under CESA, a "threatened species" is "a native species or subspecies… that, although not presently threatened with extinction, is likely to become an endangered species in the foreseeable future in the absence of the special protection and management efforts…" Cal. Fish & Game Code § 2067. An "endangered species" is "in serious danger of becoming extinct throughout all, or a significant portion, of its range due to one or more causes, including loss of habitat, change in habitat, overexploitation, predation, competition, or disease." Cal. Fish & Game § 2062.

The Temblor legless lizard faces serious and immediate threats, particularly from oil and gas development, that jeopardize its continued existence in all or a significant portion of its range in California. It consequently meets the definition of an endangered species.

The Temblor Legless Lizard Warrants Listing as Endangered or Threatened under the California Endangered Species Act (CESA)

I. Introduction

This petition summarizes the available scientific information regarding the taxonomy and natural history of the Temblor legless lizard (*Anniella alexanderae*), its range, distribution, abundance, and population trends in California, threats affecting its ability to survive and reproduce, and discusses the limitations of existing management measures in protecting the species. As demonstrated below, the Temblor legless lizard meets the criteria for protection as "endangered" or "threatened" under the California Endangered Species Act (CESA) and would benefit greatly from such protection.

II. Life History

A. Taxonomy

The Temblor legless lizard *Anniella alexanderae* is recognized as its own species. The Temblor legless lizard is in the genus *Anniella* which consists of six fossorial, wormlike lizard species endemic to California and Baja California Norte, Mexico (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 1; Parham et al. 2019, p. 5, Figure 1). *Anniella* was discovered to science in 1852 by Dr. J.A. Gray (Miller 1944, p. 273) and originally described as two species: one that ranges throughout most of California (*A. pulchra*) and another that occurs in Baja California (*A. geronimensis*). The California legless lizard *Anniella pulchra* was already listed as a Species of Special Concern in California (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 111) when it was split into five distinct species in 2013 based on genetic and morphological data: *Anniella alexanderae* (Temblor legless lizard), *Anniella campi* (Southern Sierra legless lizard), *Anniella grinnelli* (Bakersfield legless lizard), *Anniella pulchra* (Northern California legless lizard), and *Anniella alexanderae* was named in honor of naturalist Annie Alexander (1867-1950) who made critical contributions to the study of California's vertebrate biodiversity (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, pp. 9-10).

The California Natural Resources Agency's October 2021 Special Animals List recognizes *Anniella alexanderae* as a distinct species (CNDDB 2021a, pp. 43, 86). In reference to *Anniella alexanderae* (Temblor legless lizard), the Special Animals list explains that "[1]egless lizards (Anniella spp.) in California were traditionally considered one species, but are now considered five species (Papenfuss and Parham, 2013)" (CNDDB 2021a, p. 86). The Special Animals List further clarifies that *Anniella alexanderae* retains the California Species of Special Concern (SSC) status (CNDDB 2021a, p. 86).

B. Genetic Differentiation

A range-wide genetic survey of *Anniella* by Parham and Papenfuss (2009) revealed five major genetic lineages of *A. pulchra*, recognized as distinct genetic clades using both mitochondrial and nuclear DNA markers. The level of genetic divergence among these clades corresponds to species level differences found in other lizard genera (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 3). Parham and Papenfuss (2009, p. 174) estimated that lineage B (corresponding to *A. alexanderae*)

diverged from other *Anniella* between 3 and 7 million years ago, at a time when a marine embayment would have separated many of the San Joaquin *Anniella* populations.

Papenfuss and Parham (2013) split *A. pulchra* into five distinct species, including *A. alexanderae*, corresponding to the five genetic clades detected by Parham and Papenfuss (2009), where *A. alexanderae* represents Lineage B. Importantly these species can be distinguished by their distinct morphological characteristics, including coloration and vertebral counts (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 3).

Parham et al. (2019) expanded upon the genetic analysis of Parham and Papenfuss (2009) by more than tripling the number of samples for mitochondrial and nuclear DNA analysis and expanding the number of nuclear markers from one to six. Both mitochondrial and nuclear DNA analyses support the classification of *A. alexanderae* as a distinct species (Parham et al. 2019, pp. 17-19).

C. Species Description

Anniella alexanderae is a small, slender lizard with no legs, a shovel-shaped snout, smooth shiny scales, and a blunt tail (Miller 1944, pp. 276-280). *A. alexanderae* is differentiated physically from snakes by the presence of eyelids and a detachable tail used to foil predators (Miller 1944, p. 277; California Herps 2021). The lizard has no external ear openings and senses vibrations through the sand (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 186). It is approximately 4 to 7 inches long from snout to vent, excluding the tail (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 108). Legless lizards are the only sand swimming specialists in California (Evelyn and Sweet 2018, p. 6).

A. alexanderae can be identified by its unique morphological characteristics (Parham et al. 2019, p. 23). While there are limited differences in scalation among *Anniella* species (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 3), *A. alexanderae* can be differentiated from others by ventral and dorsum coloration, vertebral counts, and scale counts (Parham et al. 2019, p. 23). *A. alexanderae* has a higher dorsal scale and vertebral count (see Table 1 and Figure 1) and a unique light grey ventral coloring from the lower jaw to the end of the tail (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 7-8). The dorsum is a pale olive with orange sides. There is a mid-dorsal black stripe present from the parietals to the tip of the tail, and lateral black stripes from the eye to the top of the tail (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, pp. 5, 7).

Table 1. Dorsal scale and trunk vertebral count (based on x-ray images) for the *Anniella* pulchra complex. Summary of data from *Hunt 1984 are from clearly designated groups in that study that do not include more than one species. Source: Papenfuss and Parham 2013, based on tables from pp. 5, 8.

Anniella spp	Dorsal Scale Count	Trunk Vertebral Count
A. pulchra	198 - 250*	74 – 78
A. stebbinsi	188-249*	
A. alexanderae	257	81 - 83
A. campi	244	75 – 78
A. grinnelli	239	79-83
A. stebbinsi	215	73 – 77

Figure 1. Four new species of *Anniella* and their diagnostic characteristics. Source: Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 6.



D. Biology

Since the taxonomic identification of *A. alexanderae* is relatively new, the available biological information primarily refers to what was originally known as *A. pulchra*.

Reproduction, Growth and Lifespan

California legless lizards are live-bearing species that breed from early spring through July and have anywhere between one and four fully developed live-born young between September and November (Miller 1944, pp. 274, 276, 288), after a gestation period of approximately four months (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110). Female lizards may not produce new young every year, but more research is needed to determine how frequently or infrequently this occurs (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110). Males reach sexual maturity around two years old and 90 mm snout-to-vent length, and females reach sexual maturity at three years old and 121 mm snout-to-vent length (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110).

Anniella species, like most reptiles, shed their skin periodically. Under laboratory conditions this lizard sheds every three to five weeks, from February to November, with little to no shedding during the winter months depending on the activity of the lizard (Miller 1944, p. 277). The shedding process can take just a couple of days but is dependent on the moisture level in the substrate (Miller 1944, p. 277).

Due to the Temblor legless lizard's burrowing nature, it is difficult to study lifespan in the wild, although sexually mature adults have been kept alive in a lab for almost six years (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110).

Burrowing Behavior and Movement

Temblor legless lizards are fossorial lizards that build burrows in soil with a high proportion of sand (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 108). They "swim" through dry, loose sand with lateral undulations (Stebbins and McGinnis 2012, p. 333). They are rarely active on the surface although they use the soil/litter interface for feeding and mating (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 188). They are sensitive to noise and light pollution (Miller 1944, p. 285) which can affect their hunting (Thomson et al. 2016, pp. 189, 190). The legless lizard's body surface is covered with smooth, highly polished scales which reduce friction with the surface, and smooth fine sand is needed for undulatory body movements (Miller 1944, p. 278). These lizards have been found at varying soil depths, from a few centimeters to 50 centimeters (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 188), but they usually reside in depths from one to four inches (Miller 1944, p. 289).

They are not known to move or emigrate far and have a high site fidelity, so populations are localized (Miller 1944, p. 288; Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110). As noted by Parham and Papenfuss (2009, p. 170), "[b]ecause of its habitat specificity and overall lack of motility, [the California legless lizard] is not apt to disperse and the isolation of populations should be a common phenomenon."

Temperature Requirements

Temperature regulates the key aspects of reptile life history such as sex determination and incubation (Mitchell and Janzen 2010, p. 129-140). Legless lizards prefer temperatures between 59 to 77°F (15 to 25°C), do not bask in direct light, are rarely found above ground, and lie just beneath the surface of the substrate for feeding and mating (Miller 1944, p. 284, 288). They are most active during the morning and evening (Miller 1944, p. 284). If the substrate temperatures remain above 70°F (21°C) for extended periods, they may also be observed on the surface at night (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110). Their ability to withstand cooler temperatures while staying active is consistent with fossorial lizards that do not bask directly in the sun (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110). They are inactive at temperatures below 55°F (13°C), and temperatures in a laboratory setting above 104°F (40°C) are lethal to *Anniella* species (Miller 1944, pp. 284, 288). The Temblor legless lizard is thought to hibernate during the winter months when the weather is cooler (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110).

Diet and Foraging Behavior

The diet of the Temblor legless lizard consists of beetle larvae, termites, and spiders (Miller 1944, p. 274). The legless lizard will hide under leaf litter, loose sand, or at the base of shrubs to ambush their prey (Miller 1944, p. 288). While their eyes are functional, they appear to be nearsighted with a keen sense of mechanical disturbances and their olfactory senses are well developed (Miller 1944, p. 280). The lizard senses vibrations through the ground, using this sense to follow their prey from below and come up ahead to catch it (Miller 1944, p. 280). After capturing their prey, they go back down into their burrow to eat, swallowing sand along the way (Miller 1944, p. 274).

Predators

Documented predators of *A. alexanderae* and other legless lizards include ring-necked snakes, common kingsnakes, deer mice, long-tailed weasels, domestic cats, California thrashers, American robins, and loggerhead shrikes (Miller 1944, p. 277). Along with the ability to conceal itself in the substrate to attack prey and hide from predators, the legless lizard can also detach its tail as a defense mechanism; the tail will writhe on the ground for several minutes to distract a potential predator so the lizard can escape (California Herps 2021). Regrowth of the tail can take up to one year (Miller 1944, p. 277).

III. Habitat Necessary for Survival

The Temblor legless lizard is a microhabitat specialist due to its specific requirements for burrowing (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 188). Legless lizards are restricted to habitats that include loose soil or other substrate (e.g., sand or leaf litter), with moderate plant cover, that allow for their fossorial ecology (Jennings and Hayes 1994, pp. 110-111, Parham and Papenfuss 2009, p. 169). The Temblor legless lizard is limited to predominately sandy alkali desert scrub habitat along the base of the eastern side of the Temblor Mountain range, from northwestern Kern County to southwestern Fresno County, Central California (Parham et al. 2019, pp. 10, 12, 21). See Figure 2 for typical habitat.

Legless lizards have specific requirements for soil moisture and soil density that are essential to their survival (Miller 1944, pp. 288-289; Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 111). Soil moisture is critical for conserving energy at high temperatures and allowing shedding to occur (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 111). If the sand is too dry, recently shed skin could stick to the new skin and the head may not shed at all, which makes the use of the eyes and feeding difficult, sometimes leading to starvation (Miller 1944, p. 277). If the soil has too much clay or adobe, the legless lizard cannot penetrate deep enough for survival (Miller 1944, p. 288) and the clay content can plug their nostrils, resulting in death due to suffocation (Evelyn and Sweet 2018, p. 6-7). Dry sand overlying damp sand provides optimal conditions where the lizards can move freely from one to the other (Miller 1944, p. 289). Loose, sandy soils also help in the construction of their burrows (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 108).

Anthropogenic activities that alter soil structure, soil moisture or plant composition can degrade the lizard's habitat and could cause local extinctions (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 189). The lizard cannot survive in developed or other areas where loose soil for burrowing has been removed or altered, such as by plowing or bulldozing (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 111). Oil and gas development, urbanization, conversion to cropland, large-scale industrial solar projects, and invasive species can alter soil moisture, friability, compaction, and plant cover in the lizard's habitat.



Figure 2. Habitat of A. alexanderae, Kern County. Photo by Theodore Papenfuss.

IV. Range

The known range of the Temblor legless lizard is a narrow strip less than 200 kilometers long on the east side of the Temblor Mountain Range from the western edge of Kern County to western

Fresno County, California, between the mountains and State Highway 33/Interstate Highway 5 (Parham et al. 2019, p. 10, Figure 2B). See Figure 3 for a range map. Parham et al. (2019, p. 14) estimated the total range of the species to be only 1,719.54 km². Parham et al. (2019, p. 14) noted that the Temblor legless lizard's elevation range is more limited than the majority of the other legless lizard species.

Ecological niche modeling predicted a larger swath of the northern San Joaquin Valley east of Highway 33 as suitable range for the Temblor legless lizard (Parham et al. 2019, p. 16), but detailed searches, including multi-year use of cover boards, have not found *Anniella* in this region east of Highway 33 (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 8). Most of that land has now been developed and is highly modified (Parham et al. 2019, pp. 16, 21, 22).

Figure 3. Map showing current range for all six *Anniella* species in Southern California through Baja California, with survey sites represented by circles. The range for *A. alexanderae* is shown in white, with survey sites represented by white circles. Source: Parham et al. 2019, Figure 2.



V. Distribution

Information on Temblor legless lizard distribution comes largely from surveys based on placing cover boards made from cardboard or plywood on sandy soil (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 8; Parham et al. 2019, p. 7). Cover boards are typically placed in the field in the summer or fall, covered with soil, and checked in the spring when *Anniella* are most active (Parham et al. 2019, p. 7). The boards are flipped over and the soil under the boards is lightly raked to check for lizards (Parham et al. 2019, p. 7). Importantly, researchers note that it often takes three to four years with a cover board in place before a legless lizard is detected (Theodore Papenfuss, personal communication).

As noted above, *A. alexanderae* was split into its own species in 2013 based on genetic and morphological data (Papenfuss and Parham 2013). Papenfuss and Parham (2013, p. 8) reported *A. alexanderae* from a single area at the southeast base of the Temblor Range between McKittrick and Taft west of Hwy 33, comprised of two sites separated by continuous suitable habitat.

Parham et al. (2019, p. 7, Appendix A, B) expanded the known range of A. alexanderae based on surveys conducted over four years, covering ~ 60 survey sites, where a site can have multiple separate locations with cover boards in place. Specifically, Parham et al. (2019, p. 14) reported Temblor legless lizards in four different sites in seven unique localities ranging in elevation from 168 to 466 meters. See Figure 4 for distribution map showing lizard detection sites. Lizard detection site 1 is northwest of the city of Taft, CA, with three localities within one kilometer of each other, within the Midway-Sunset oil field. Lizard detection site 2 is near the town of McKittrick within the McKittrick oil field boundary. Lizard detection site 3 is within the 1,200acre California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW)-managed Pleasant Valley Ecological Reserve (Parham et al. 2019, p. 22), east of Coalinga within the boundaries of the Pleasant Valley oil field. The Pleasant Valley Ecological Reserve was designated in 2000 to protect grasslands and saltbush scrub habitats for sensitive animal species and is surrounded by oil fields, cattle grazing, and agriculture (CDFW 2021a). Lizard detection site 4 is located within a 5-acre parcel on the Palo Prieto Conservation Bank, in the foothills of the Temblor Mountain Range (CNDDB 2021b). The Palo Prieto Conservation Bank, an easement with five separate parcels of land totaling just over 5,000 acres, was established in 2006 to preserve San Joaquin kit fox habitat, as well as other sensitive species found in the area (PPCB 2020a). The conservation land is also used for cattle grazing.

Overall, three of the four detection sites (sites 1, 2, and 3) containing six of the seven localities are within oil field boundaries, with the exception of the Palo Prieto Conservation Bank. Three of the four detection sites (sites 1, 2, and 4) containing six of the seven localities are located on private land, with the exception of the Pleasant Valley Ecological Reserve.



Figure 4. Range of the Temblor legless lizard and the four sites where it has been found.

Importantly, the Temblor legless lizard is found in limited habitat patches at all the detection sites. For example, at site 3 in the 1,200-acre Pleasant Valley Ecological Reserve, suitable habitat for the legless lizard encompasses only about one acre in an upland area with sandy soil (Theodore Papenfuss, personal communication). The majority of reserve lands have hard-packed soils or are located in stream valleys subjected to periodic large floods which can drown lizards, and which are not suitable habitat (Theodore Papenfuss, personal communication). At site 4 within the Palo Prieto Conservation Bank, suitable habitat consists of approximately three to four acres (Theodore Papenfuss, personal communication). Most of the conservation bank land is rolling grassy hills without loose soil and does not provide suitable habitat (Theodore Papenfuss, personal communication).

Moreover, all known lizard detection sites are on private land with the exception of a single site on the CDFW Pleasant Valley Ecological Reserve. Parham et al. (2019, p. 22, Table 1) estimated that only 0.5% of the lizard's range (9 km², 18 parcels) is on CDFW lands, with another 5% of the range (91 km²) on BLM lands.

Temblor legless lizards have high-site fidelity, at least over the short term (Jennings and Hayes 1998, p. 110). Collection results via coverboards indicate localized populations, and in all probability the lizards are not distributed over their entire range (Miller 1944, p. 288).

VI. Abundance

The Temblor legless lizard is considered to be rare based on its limited range within which it has only been found at seven localities in four sites (Papenfuss et al. 2013, p. 14; Parham et al. 2019, pp. 11, 14). Due to its fossorial and cryptic nature, population size estimates are not readily available (Thomson et al. 2016, pp. 189-190).

VII. Population Trend

Trends in habitat availability serve as a proxy for population trends. Based on the extensive habitat loss and fragmentation within the lizard's range, the Temblor legless lizard population has almost certainly declined. As detailed below, the majority the species' habitat has been destroyed, fragmented and degraded by oil and gas development, urbanization, and other threats and is no longer suitable (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 189). Ecological niche modeling predicted that the lizard's range included a larger swath of the northern San Joaquin Valley, most of which has been developed (Parham et al. 2019, pp. 5, 16, 22). Detailed searches have yet to find the lizard in suitable habitat on the valley floor east of Highway 33 (Papenfuss and Parham 2013, p. 8). This indicates that extirpation from human development may be a cause of their limited range and populations (Parham et al. 2019, p. 22).

The Temblor legless lizard is currently listed as Species of Special Concern in California (Thomson et al. 2016, pp. 186-191). Experts on the species have recommended a California Endangered Species Act listing for *A. alexanderae* largely based on the loss of habitat that provides a proxy for population decline (Parham et al. 2019, p. 24). A key recommendation of the *2019 Conservation Assessment of the California Legless Lizard (Anniella)* prepared for the California Department of Fish and Wildlife is:

It would be prudent to consider the possibility of a Federal or State listing for *A*. *alexanderae*. The State of California already considers this species to be critically imperiled (G1 S1), but more protection may be warranted. The discovery of new sites for this species provide additional hope for its conservation, but currently all but one known site for this species is on private land (Parham et al. 2019, p. 24).

The Temblor legless lizard is further designated as vulnerable by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and is on the IUCN Red List due to its narrow range and imminent threats (Hammerson 2019, p. 1-3). The IUCN recently concluded that oil and gas development could propel the Temblor legless lizard to Critically Endangered status or extinction in the near future (Hammerson 2019, p. 2, 6). NatureServe classifies the Temblor legless lizard as a G1 and S1 critically imperiled global and state ranking status, respectively (NatureServe 2021). NatureServe defines its G1 and S1 categories as "critically imperiled – at very high risk of extinction due to extreme rarity (often five or fewer populations), very steep declines, or other factors" and "factor(s) such as very steep declines making it especially vulnerable to extirpation from the state" (NatureServe 2021).

VIII. Factors Affecting Ability to Survive and Reproduce

Oil and gas development, urbanization, and associated habitat destruction, fragmentation, and degradation are the primary threats to the Temblor legless lizard (Thomson et al. 2016, pp. 188-189; Hammerson 2019, p. 6). The Temblor legless lizard is also threatened by industrial solar development, invasive grasses and non-native wild pigs, and rising temperatures and changes in moisture caused by climate change.

A. Oil and Gas Development

Oil and gas development is the primary threat to the Temblor legless lizard. Three of the four sites where the lizard has been detected are within oil field boundaries and surrounded by extensive oil and gas development. In total, 31 oil fields overlap the Temblor legless lizard's narrow range.¹ More than 98% of the lizard's restricted range is already open or potentially available to oil and gas development. The IUCN recently concluded that oil and gas development could propel the Temblor legless lizard to Critically Endangered status or extinction in the near future (Hammerson 2019, pp. 2, 6). Oil and gas development threatens the Temblor Key legless lizard through habitat loss and fragmentation; soil compaction, removal of the duff and litter layer the lizard requires, loss of native plant life, and changes in soil moisture; oil spills and produced water spills; noise and light pollution; human disturbance; and climate change.

Oil and gas development is extensive in the Temblor legless lizard's limited range

Oil and gas development is extensive and continues to expand in the Temblor legless lizard's restricted range. State and local agencies continue to approve thousands of new oil and gas permits each year, a substantial portion of which are in the 31 oil fields overlapping the species' habitat. Areas already open to oil and gas development and potentially available to oil and gas

¹ These 31 oil fields are Antelope Hills, North Antelope Hills, Antelope Plains Gas (ABD), Asphalto, Belgian Anticline, Blackwells Corner, Buena Vista, Cal Canal Gas, Carneros Creek, Chico-Martinez, Coalinga, Coalinga East Extension, Cymric, Elk Hills, Guijarral Hills, Jacalitos, Kettleman North Dome, Kreyenhagen (ABD), McDonald Anticline, McKittrick, Midway-Sunset, Monument Junction, North Belridge, Pleasant Valley, Pyramid Hills, Railroad Gap, Shale Flats Gas (ABD), Shale Point Gas (ABD), South Belridge, Temblor East (ABD), and Temblor Ranch.

development comprise 98.3% of the lizard's range, including private lands, areas open for leasing, and existing leases (see Figures 5, 6). Moreover, Kern County, where the majority of remaining Temblor legless lizard habitat is located, is attempting to streamline oil and gas permitting to make future approvals for projects faster and hidden from public scrutiny. In 2019 the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) opened up oil and gas drilling and fracking on more than one million acres of public lands and mineral estate in Central California, including a significant portion of the Temblor legless lizard's restricted range.



Figure 5. Active oil and gas development in the Temblor legless lizard range.

The state oil regulator, California Geologic Energy Management Division (CalGEM), under Governor Newsom has approved more than 9,700 new permits for oil and gas development in California since 2019 (Consumer Watchdog and FracTracker Alliance 2021), including more than 5,000 permits for new drilling (Center for Biological Diversity 2021). Midway-Sunset, the location of lizard detection site 1, is the largest oil field in Kern County with the largest remaining volume of crude oil and heavy drilling activity. Midway-Sunset has more than 25,000 active and idle wells (CalGEM 2021a), and CalGEM has issued at least 870 new drilling permits in this oil field since 2019 (Center for Biological Diversity 2021). McKittrick, the location of lizard detection site 2, has nearly 2,000 active and idle wells (CalGEM 2021a) with at least 314 new drilling permits issued since 2019 (Center for Biological Diversity 2021). Lizard detection site 3 is located on the Pleasant Valley Ecological Reserve (Pleasant Valley ER, p. 2), but is surrounded by the Pleasant Valley oil field and adjacent to the Coalinga and Guijarral Hills oil fields. Coalinga oil field has more than 4,100 active and idle wells (CalGEM 2021a) with at least 209 new drilling permits issued since 2019 (Center for Biological Diversity 2021). The Pleasant Valley and Guijarral oil fields each have 5 active or idle wells (CalGEM 2021a). With ~1,184 permits approved for new drilling in the Midway-Sunset and McKittrick oil fields alone since 2019, where two of the four lizard detection sites are located, clearly oil and gas development is a serious and increasing threat to the lizard and its habitat.

Furthermore, in 2015 Kern County issued an ordinance that attempted to "streamline" oil and gas permitting in the county by not requiring any further environmental review or public notice for up to 72,000 wells over the next 25 years (Kern County 2015). However, in a February 2020 ruling, California's Fifth District Court of Appeals ruled that Kern County violated the California Environmental Quality Act by failing to fully evaluate and disclose the environmental damage that would occur as a result of the county's plan, including harm from water use, air pollution, and increased noise (King and Gardiner Farms et al. v. County of Kern et al., 45 Cal.App.5th 814 (2020)). After the ordinance passage and before the court ruling, Kern County was issuing more than a thousand oil and gas permits each year (Kern County 2019, Table 1). In March 2021, Kern County approved a supplemental environmental impact report under a nearly identical ordinance to serve as a single environmental review for more than 40,000 new oil and gas projects over the coming decades (Kern County 2021a). This environmental impact report fails to adequately disclose, evaluate, and mitigate harms to the imperiled Temblor legless lizard and is being challenged in court (Committee for a Better Arvin et al. v. County of Kern et al., 2021). This ordinance, if adopted, would jeopardize the Temblor legless lizard and its habitat through foreseeable increases in habitat loss and fragmentation, traffic, oil spills, chemical spills, and other disturbances resulting from oil and gas development.

Recently proposed oil and gas development on federal lands further jeopardizes the Temblor legless lizard. In November 2019, the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) under the Trump administration issued an environmental analysis, being challenged in court (*Center for Biological Diversity v. U.S. Bureau of Land Management*, No. 2:20-CV-00371 DSF, 2020), for the Bakersfield Resource Management Plan to allow oil and gas drilling and fracking on more than one million acres of public lands and mineral estate in Central California (BLM 2019), including a significant portion of the Temblor legless lizard's remaining habitat (see Figure 6).

Figure 6. More than 98% of the lizard's range is available for oil and gas development. Oil and gas leases on federal lands or on lands with federal mineral rights are shown in red. Areas recently opened to leasing under the Bakersfield Resource Management Plan are shown in orange. Private lands potentially available for oil and gas development are shown in gray.



In December 2020, the BLM approved the first oil and gas lease sale of federal public lands in California in eight years, covering 4,000 acres in Kern County (BLM 2020). One of the seven parcels falls within the known habitat range of the Temblor legless lizard (see Figure 7). Yet the BLM failed to analyze the impacts of this development on the Temblor legless lizard, despite the fact that the lizard is a Species of Special Concern (*Center for Biological Diversity et al. v. U.S. Bureau of Land Management et al.*, No. 21-cv-475, 2021) and is being considered for federal listing under the U.S. Endangered Species Act (ESA) (USFWS 2021a) following an October 2020 petition from the Center for Biological Diversity (Center for Biological Diversity 2020). BLM is supposed to give special status consideration to any species listed or proposed for ESA listing as well as species requiring special management consideration to promote their conservation and reduce the likelihood and need for future listing under the ESA (BLM 2020, p. 22).

BLM has since proposed to approve dozens of new drilling permits in the Midway Sunset oil field. In April 2021 BLM proposed to approve 14 Applications for Permit to Drill (APDs) submitted by Chevron to drill new wells in Midway Sunset (BLM 2021a), and in July 2021 BLM proposed to approve another 50 APDs submitted by Berry Petroleum Company (BLM 2021b). At least three APD projects fall directly within the Temblor legless lizard's known range, as shown in Figure 7. This proposed oil and gas development would jeopardize the remaining populations and habitat of this imperiled lizard in this region.

Figure 7. 2020 BLM lease sale within the habitat range of the Temblor legless lizard, shown as "2020 EOI parcel." Proposed permits to drill shown as "APD locations."



Overview of harms from oil and gas development

Oil and gas development causes severe and often permanent damage to the ecosystems where it occurs by destroying and fragmenting habitat, reducing water supplies often in water-stressed areas, causing air, noise, and light pollution, contaminating surface and ground water, and facilitating the spread of ecologically disruptive invasive species (Butt et al. 2013, Brittingham et al. 2014, Pickell et al. 2014, Souther et al. 2014, Allred et al. 2015, Harfoot et al. 2018). During the construction of well pads, roads, pipelines, compressor stations and other oil and gas infrastructure, native vegetation is cleared, and soils are bulldozed and compacted. Fossil fuel development also creates the significant risk of oil spills and chemical-laden produced water spills which can kill wildlife and cause devastating effects over large areas. Spills and leaks require large volumes of soil to be excavated and transported to hazardous waste facilities (Goldberg 2019). The "surface expression" spills caused by steam injection create gaping sinkholes in the ground and destabilize the entire area (Wilson and Younes 2020). Unlined wastewater pits allow contaminants to seep into the soil (DiGuilio et al. 2021). Remediation of the land may be infeasible once chemicals have contaminated the soil beneath such facilities. Thus, oil and gas operations can destroy vegetation and soil and permanently degrade habitat. For many species, the harms from fossil fuel development have led to mortality, changes in behavior, population declines, disruptions to community composition, and loss of ecosystem function (Endangered Species Coalition 2012).

While all oil and gas development poses a threat to the Temblor legless lizard, commonly used oil and gas extraction techniques in the lizard's range in Kern, Kings and Fresno Counties, such as steam flooding, cyclic steam injection, water flooding, and fracking, are particularly destructive, causing additional impacts. These extreme extraction techniques require pumping large volumes of toxic chemicals, steam, water, and sand at high pressures into rock formations, causing them to crack and release oil and gas. Cyclic steaming and steam flooding are heavily used in Midway-Sunset, Cymric, Coalinga, McKittrick, and South Belridge oil fields in the lizard's range (Fleming et al. 2021, p. 20, Figures 10 and 11). During steam injection for cyclic steaming and steam flooding, the operator repeatedly injects steam at very high temperature and pressure into the well to heat up the surrounding formation. Repeated steam injection creates some of the harshest conditions to which a well can be subjected. The process is known to result in a particularly high rate of well failure, can cause the ground to shift and collapse, and can cause oil and wastewater to rise to the surface ("surface expressions") which can kill wildlife and plants and destroy habitat, as detailed further below. Fracking is another commonly used extraction technique particularly in South Belridge oil field in the lizard's range (CalGEM 2021a). Fracking uses toxic chemicals and causes wide-ranging ecological harms including habitat loss and fragmentation; surface and groundwater contamination; localized air, noise and light pollution; vehicle traffic; climate change; and other cumulative impacts (Souther et al. 2014, p. 330; CCST 2015, p. 311).

Habitat loss and fragmentation

The Temblor legless lizard has already suffered significant habitat loss and fragmentation from oil and gas development (Hammerson 2019, p. 2; Parham et al. 2019, p. 5). Satellite imagery

indicates that oil and gas development has already destroyed and degraded 50% to 90% of the Temblor lizard's range (Hammerson 2019, p. 6). Fracking and cyclic steaming has led to increased habitat loss and fragmentation in Kern County by enabling oil and gas development in previously unexploited natural habitat and by increasing well densities in developed areas (CCST 2015, p. 399).

Oil and gas exploration activities and the construction and operation of well pads, roads, pipelines, compressor stations and other oil and gas infrastructure clears habitat, removes native vegetation, and disturbs and compacts soil. Numerous scientific studies demonstrate that habitat loss and fragmentation from oil and gas infrastructure negatively affects species by impeding movement and dispersal, reducing home range size, reducing patch size below what is needed for foraging and life history activities, increasing habitat isolation, altering physical characteristics such as light, moisture, and temperature, facilitating the spread of invasive species, and altering species dynamics including interactions and abundance (Brittingham 2014, pp. 11034-11043; Souther et al. 2014, p. 330; Allred et al. 2015, p. 402). Fragmentation creates "habitat islands" that can disrupt movement (MacNally and Brown 2001, p. 116) and erode genetic variation in small populations and promote inbreeding (Templeton et al. 1990, p. 13-27).

Fragmentation also increases the proportion of disturbed edge habitat to undisturbed interior habitat which can increase the likelihood of predation, parasitism, and human disturbance. For example, in the Marcellus shale, while each drilling pad and associated infrastructure results in the clearing of 8.8 acres, each drilling pad affects 30 acres after accounting for ecological edge effects (Johnson 2010). Similarly, in the Big Piney-LaBarge field in Wyoming, a study found that while the overall area of oil and gas infrastructure covered 4% of the total area, 97% of the total area fell within one-quarter mile of oil and gas infrastructure (Weller et al. 2002).

Fracking has become an increasingly important driver for enabling oil and gas production: 20% of the land area that was newly developed for oil and gas production between October 2012 and September 2014 was attributed to fracking (CCST 2015, p. 366). Kern County has experienced the majority (61% percent) of the habitat loss and fragmentation attributable to fracking-enabled production in the state, estimated at 13,400 hectares of altered natural habitat and 6,700 hectares of other altered land areas (CCST 2015, p. 365, 399). Fracking-enabled activity exerts high local impacts on habitat in the southwestern San Joaquin Valley "where frequently stimulated fields overlap with high-quality habitat for rare species" (CCST 2015, p. 366).

In the San Joaquin Valley, high levels of habitat disturbance and fragmentation from oil and gas development prevent endemic species from persisting in those areas, including the blunt-nosed leopard lizard, San Joaquin kit fox, San Joaquin antelope squirrel, and endangered kangaroo rats (Fiehler and Cypher 2011, 2017). Most of these species were no longer detected in areas with 70% habitat disturbance or more (Fiehler and Cypher 2011, p. 21). Similarly, the USFWS Recovery Plan for the Upland Species of the San Joaquin Valley reports that blunt-nosed leopard lizard "population densities decrease as oil activity increases" and they tend to inhabit areas where little to no petroleum development occurs (USFWS 1998, p. 119).

Species like the Temblor legless lizard with limited ranges, small population size, low mobility, specialized habitat requirements, and high sensitivity to disturbance are at particular risk from habitat loss and fragmentation from oil and gas development (MacNally and Brown 2001, pp. 116-117; Brittingham et al. 2014, p. 11034). In short, the Temblor legless lizard, a cryptic lizard with localized populations, is being restricted to remnant habitat patches amidst rampant oil and gas development.

Soil compaction, loss of native plant life, changes in soil moisture

Oil and gas development compacts soils and clears native vegetation through construction, roadbuilding, vehicle traffic, and other heavy equipment use. Oil and gas development can change soil moisture through clearing and grading of well pads that increases sediment runoff; and construction, maintenance, and/or use of culverts, pipelines, and other structures that alters water flow (Brittingham et al. 2014, p. 11038). In addition, cleared or altered areas generally allow more solar radiation to reach the ground during the day and more to re-radiate to the atmosphere at night, resulting in larger temperature and moisture gradients and higher variability near development edges compared with undisturbed areas (Wilson 2016, p. 4). Differences in air temperature, air and soil moisture, and light intensity have been estimated to extend more than 240 meters from disturbed area edges (Wilson 2016, p. 4).

The Temblor legless lizard is a micro-habitat specialist that requires loose, sandy soil for burrowing, a litter and duff layer, and specific moisture levels for its life cycle (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 108, Thomson et al. 2016, p. 188). It does not respond well to disturbed soil moisture levels, compacted soil (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 189) or mechanical disturbances (Miller 1944, p. 280). Oil and gas development—including construction, road-building, and heavy equipment and vehicle traffic—poses a significant threat by compacting the soil, decreasing the amount of loose substrate for the lizard to move through, removing the litter and duff layer, and altering soil moisture levels.

Noise and light pollution

Oil and gas development creates significant intermittent and chronic noise pollution due to construction, drilling, venting, flaring, fracking, truck transport, compressors, human activity, and other noise sources (CDC 2015, p. 7-30). Noise pollution from drilling, well stimulation, and compressor stations is particularly significant. CalGEM reports the noise from pumping during a frack job at 107 decibels (CDC 2015, p. 7-30) while noise from pumping during acid matrix stimulation can range between 75 to 100 decibels (CDC 2015, p. 7-37). Compressor stations can produce constant sound over 80 decibels — as loud as a busy highway. Drilling operations often continues 24 hours a day until completion, meaning that surrounding areas can be exposed to noise from drill rigs, air compressors, drill pipe connections and power generators day and night.

Oil and gas development can also lead to significant amounts of light pollution. Drilling sites are lighted at night to allow for 24-hour operation of the drill rig, and well drilling lasts an average of 23 days but can continue for more than 60 days (Kern County 2015, p. 3-41). During inevitable oil and produced water spills, oil companies will utilize strobe lights and propane cannons through the night to ward off wildlife.

Anthropogenic noise is a widespread pollutant that affects a wide array of species including reptiles (Kunc and Schmidt 2019). Research shows that noise pollution from oil and gas-related activities can cause wildlife to temporarily or permanently abandon habitat areas and can negatively impact abundance, stress levels, behavior and fitness (Bayne et al. 2008; Francis et al. 2013; Patricelli et al. 2013; Wilson 2016, pp. 2-4; Kleist et al. 2018, p. E468). Light pollution has been shown to disrupt animal foraging, breeding, and migratory behaviors; cause disorientation; disrupt natural day-night cycles of plants; lead to mortality and predation; and change community composition (CCST 2015, p. 350).

The Temblor legless lizard is particularly sensitive to noise and light (Miller 1944, p. 277, 284, 285, 288). It can sense vibrations through the ground and has a keen sense of mechanical disturbances (Miller 1944, p. 280). The lizard uses this sense to follow their prey from below and come up ahead of the prey and catch it (Miller 1944, p. 280). The chronic and intermittent vibrations and noise disturbances from oil and gas development could harm the lizard's ability to hunt (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 189, 190). Although they are mostly subsurface, legless lizards use the surface for feeding and mating (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 188) and may also use the surface on warm nights (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110). Because legless lizards are sensitive to light, light pollution from oil and gas development may interrupt these surface activities.

Oil spills and produced water spills

Oil and produced water spills threaten the Temblor legless lizard including by contaminating habitat with toxic chemicals, altering soil density and moisture content, and injuring and killing lizards during spills or clean-up activities. As detailed below, oil and produced water spills are rampant in the Temblor legless lizard's restricted range, including at least 20 "surface expression" spills since 2019, two of which are currently active.

Oil and produced water spills and leaks are inherent to oil and gas production and occur with troubling frequency in California. Between January 2009 and December 2014, a total of 575 produced water spills and 31 chemical spills were reported, equivalent to 99 produced water spills per year (CCST 2015, p. 345). One acid spill ruptured beyond a secondary containment apparatus and spilled 5,500 gallons of hydrochloric acid (CCST 2015, p. 128). Kern County has the highest concentration of produced water spills (55%) and chemical spills (42%) of any county in the state (CCST 2015, p. 161). Kern County estimates that there have been 613 spills and 87 well leaks reported from 2009 through 2014 (Kern County 2015, p. 4.9-72). The number of incidents reported is likely smaller than the number of actual spills and leaks, either because they have not yet been discovered, or operators have not reported them.

Produced water spills contain a toxic mix of chemicals. One comprehensive study found that 40% of the chemicals added to fracking fluids have ecological effects, indicating that they can harm wildlife (Colborn 2012). A 2017 study of the chemicals used in routine oil and gas activities in California – including well drilling, well completion, and well rework –found that there is widespread use of toxic chemicals (Stringfellow et al. 2017). Although 70% of the disclosed chemical additives could not be fully evaluated because of insufficient reporting on chemical identity by the oil and gas industry, commonly used chemical additives in routine

activities include ecotoxic biocides and corrosion inhibitors, as well as the use of high concentrations of hydrochloric acid and hydrofluoric acid for maintenance acidizing. In total, 58 chemical additives were identified as being ecotoxic.

Steam injection causes large and frequent "surface expressions" in the Temblor lizard range, in which oil and produced water are pushed up to the surface and cause large-volume spills. These surface spills are particularly common in Cymric, McKittrick, and Midway-Sunset oil fields in the lizard's restricted range. There are currently at least two active surface spills in the legless lizard's range and 18 that have just been controlled in the past two years (CalGEM 2021b). For example, the Cymric 1Y Oil Field spill in Kern County was first reported in early May 2019 and took 5 months to clean up an estimated 1,339,926 gallons (31,903 barrels) of spilled oil and water (see Figure 8) (CDFW 2019, p. 1). The Oil and Gas Supervisor determined that the spill presented a significant threat of harm to human health and the environment (CDC 2019, p. 6). Another surface spill in the Cymric oil field, GS-5, has leaked more than 16.8 million gallons of oil and about 70 million gallons of wastewater intermittently since 2003, more than the Exxon Valdez spill (CDFW 2019; Wilson and Younes 2020), threatening wildlife and plant species in the area. Of particular concern, the frequency of reported large spills has increased since CalGEM adopted changes to state regulations in April 2019 to allow higher pressure steam injection to occur (Cal. Code Regs, tit. 14, § 1724.10.3 (Apr. 1, 2019)).

There are no meaningful disincentives for oil companies to prevent surface expressions. In fact, many become a financial windfall. Operators have "commercialize[d] surface expressions, despite warnings by staffers about environmental and human harm" (Wilson and Younes 2020). According to Wilson and Younes (2020), "[i]n the last three years alone, the crude collected from GS-5 [the Cymric GS-5 spill] has generated an estimated \$11.6 million."

It is well-documented that oil and chemical spills can have catastrophic ecological impacts due to their toxic effects, the potentially large volume of spills, and the difficulty of containment and clean-up (i.e., produced water spills cannot be contained by traditional oil spill response methods). In Kern County, wildlife that live in burrows near spills are "entombed" by the spilled crude oil (Wilson and Younes 2020). Records show "dozens of dead and decaying birds and small mammals around spill sites" (Wilson and Younes 2020).

The Temblor legless lizard is a small, reclusive reptile that would not be readily visible during an oil spill. They would be entombed by fast-rising crude oil and produced water from underground. Without focused surveys it would it be unknown if any legless lizards were killed in an oil spill. The process of cleaning up an oil spill, involving removal of significant amounts of soil during a clean-up, could easily wipe out an entire legless lizard population (see Figure 8). An oil spill during the legless lizard breeding season from early spring to July (Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 110) could also wipe out breeding populations.

Figure 8. A "cleaned-up" oil and produced water surface spill in Cymric oil field, Kern County.



Spills could also harm habitat suitability for the Temblor legless lizard by altering soil density and moisture content. Furthermore, reptiles are sensitive to contaminants and accumulate and magnify them to levels equal or greater than those reported for mammals and birds (Crain and Guillette 1998, pp. 77-78). As detailed above, produced water contains hydraulic fracturing fluids, radioactive materials, heavy metals and other compounds such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, alkenes, alkanes and other volatile and semi-volatile organics (Pichtel 2016, p. 1). Some of these pollutants are known to be toxic or carcinogenic in the environment, while others are endocrine disruptors (Pichtel 2016, p. 2). A reptile's endocrine system controls nearly every aspect of its life and is instrumental in regulating processes such as metabolism, development, reproduction, tissue function and behavior (Norris and Lopez 2011, p. 373). Disruption of these processes can sabotage sexual development, sex ratio and metabolic compensation for environmental stress; in combination with other stressors such as habitat loss and global climate change, it can contribute to local extinctions (Cheek 2006, p. 1.) Studies have shown that endocrine disruptors can affect reptile testosterone levels, gonad size, population levels, energy levels related to reproduction and growth, hatching and developmental abnormalities, and mortality (Gibbons et al. 2000, p. 657; Zychowski and Godard-Codding 2016, p. 26; Crain and Guillette 1998, p. 77-86). Only a modest amount of information is available on the exposure of these compounds to lizards (Zychowski and Godard-Codding 2016, pp. 28, 29). While specific impacts to the Temblor legless lizards are not yet known due to its fossorial and cryptic nature and lack of focused monitoring, there is enough information to show that the survival of the Temblor legless lizard is threatened by toxic compounds and endocrine disruptors.

Wastewater disposal pits

California is the only state with significant oil production that allows oil and gas wastewater to be dumped into unlined pits (Center for Biological Diversity 2019). The use of wastewater

disposal pits as a part of wastewater management is a historic and dangerous practice in the oil and gas industry, particularly throughout the San Joaquin Valley and Kern County in particular. California rules allow three types of pits: drilling sumps, evaporation sumps, and operations sumps (Earthworks 2021, p. 11). A February 2016 report found that there were 790 active pits in California and that a vast majority of them are unlined (Earthworks 2021, p. 11). There are hundreds more that are technically "inactive" but continue to harm the environment (Earthworks 2021, p.11). Further, 60% of waste pits in California either do not have a permit or are otherwise out of compliance with state water quality standards, but nevertheless have been allowed to remain in operation (Earthworks 2021, p.11). As of April 2015, over 200 unlined pits in the Central Valley alone were operating without the necessary permits (CCST 2015, p. 110). Currently, many wastewater disposal pits are located throughout the Temblor legless lizard's range (see Figure 9).

Figure 9. Location of active percolation pits used for produced water disposal in the Temblor legless lizard's range and the location of groundwater of varying quality. Source data: CCST 2015, p. 25.



Wastewater pits can contain hazardous chemicals from hydraulic fracking treatments, as well as reaction byproducts of these chemicals (CCST 2015, p. 23). The Central Valley Regional Water Board is supposed to require that fluid in pits meets certain water quality standards for salinity, chlorides, and boron (CCST 2015, p. 344). However, there is no testing required, or thresholds specified, for other contaminants (CCST 2015, p. 344). Even wastewater that exceeds the salinity thresholds may be discharged in "unlined sumps, stream channels, or surface water if the discharger successfully demonstrates to the Regional Water Board in a public hearing that the proposed discharge will not substantially affect water quality nor cause a violation of water quality objectives" (CCST 2015, p. 110). There is "ample evidence" of groundwater contamination from waste pits in California (CCST 2015, p. 112). In the Central Valley, the Regional Water Quality Control Board ordered the closure of several waste pits in the North and South Belridge and Lost Hills oil fields because of their negative impacts on groundwater (CCST 2015, p. 112). Indeed, a new study confirms that unlined pits endanger groundwater in the San Joaquin Valley, documenting how the disposal of over 16 billion barrels of oil and gas wastewater into unlined pits over a 50-year period has introduced salts, carcinogens, and other toxins into regional aquifers (DiGuilio et al. 2021).

This is particularly concerning because a statewide science review reported that oil and gas wastewater storage and disposal ponds can cause wildlife harms and mortality, concluding that "[w]ildlife can suffer negative effects or mortality by drinking from or immersing themselves in wastewater storage or disposal ponds" (CCST 2015, p. 343). The report points out that "oil field wastewater typically contains other chemicals such as volatile organic compounds (VOCs), benzene, and naturally occurring radioactive material (NORM) that are of concern for human and environmental health" (CCST 2015, p. 344). And further that "constituents besides oil could impact the health of organisms that come in contact with the sumps, particularly if the produced water contains traces of stimulation chemicals" (CCST 2015, p. 345). The report points to documented cases in California in which endangered blunt-nosed leopard lizards, giant kangaroo rats, and San Joaquin kit foxes drowned in spills of oil-laden wastewater (CCST 2015, p. 343).

In short, wastewater pits which are common in the Temblor legless lizard's remaining habitat pose a risk through habitat destruction to create pits, soil and water contamination, and drowning of lizards in wastewater.

B. Urbanization

Encroaching urbanization has been associated with habitat destruction and reptile extinction; urbanization tends to decrease native species richness and promote diversity of exotic and/or non-native species (French et al. 2018, p. 954). Urbanization has caused imperilment of over 275 threatened and endangered species in the United States (Czech 2004, p. 10). Many lizard species are unlikely to move to new habitat if there are changes due to habitat alteration (Howland et al. 2014, p. 3), and the Temblor legless lizard is known to have limited ability to disperse, thus is likely to be extirpated by urbanization.

Parham et al. (2019, p. 22) found that all estimated range maps for the Temblor legless lizard based on ecological niche modeling predict that there is a strong likelihood of potential

extirpation from human development. The lizard's suitable habitat historically extended into the San Joaquin Valley, but much of that has been lost to development. By 1979 nearly all the San Joaquin Valley floor was urbanized or converted to cropland and less than 5% of the Valley floor remains uncultivated – with much of that uncultivated land already developed for oil and gas extraction (USFWS 1998).

C. Industrial Solar Projects

While renewable energy is urgently needed to address the climate emergency, the direct loss of habitat and sand movement from improperly sited industrial solar projects can harm the Temblor legless lizard. The legless lizard is a microhabitat specialist that needs loose soil to burrow as well as shaded areas for feeding and mating (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 188). Habitat is changed considerably with the installation of a solar power plant: the soil is often scraped bare during construction; herbicides or mowing can be used to keep vegetation down; and the panels themselves cast shadows and change the microclimate (Turney and Fthenakis 2011, p. 3265). Soil compaction and ecosystem disturbance from solar projects can take years for recovery (Turney and Fthenakis 2011, p. 3266).

There are numerous industrial solar fields across the San Joaquin Valley, with a few already located within the lizard's range (see Figure 10). Currently, there are more than 19 commercial solar projects in the permitting process and two utility scale solar projects in the approval process with the California Energy Commission in Kern County (Kern County 2021b). Cumulatively these projects could lead to habitat fragmentation and destruction of lizard habitat.

D. Climate Change

Anthropogenic climate change poses an escalating threat to the Temblor legless lizard. As reptiles, Temblor legless lizards are highly sensitive to climate change (Mitchell and Janzen 2010, p. 129-140; Tuberville et al. 2015, p. 822-834), particularly to changes in temperature and precipitation.

California is particularly vulnerable to harms of the climate crisis, identified as "one of the most 'climate-challenged' regions of North America" (Bedsworth et al. 2018, p. 13). The state is already experiencing rising temperatures, declining snowpack, more heavy precipitation events, intensifying drought, and increasing area burned by wildfire (Thorne et al. 2018, p. 4). Climate change has contributed to a series of some of the most extreme events in California's recorded history: a severe drought from 2012-2016, an almost non-existent Sierra Nevada winter snowpack in 2014-2015, increased destruction of communities by wildfires, and back-to-back years of the warmest average temperatures (Thorne et al. 2018, p. 3).

Specifically, average annual temperatures have increased in California by 2°F since the early 20th century (Frankson et al. 2017, p. 5) and are projected to rise by 8.8°F by 2100 if emissions continue at current rates (Thorne et al. 2018, p. 5). Heat waves are becoming more frequent (Thorne et al. 2018, p. 3, 15). Precipitation is becoming more variable, and heavy downpours – with their associated flooding – are projected to become more frequent, especially due to an increase in atmospheric rivers (Thorne et al. 2018, p. 24-25). Mountain snowpack is declining,

and by 2050 the average water supply from snowpack is projected to decline to two-thirds of historical levels (Thorne et al. 2018, p. 5). Rising temperatures and loss of snowpack are intensifying drought conditions which threaten water supplies (Gonzales et al. 2018, p. 1103, 1104, 1107). Kern County is expected by 2050 to have an increase in winter average temperatures by 3-4°C (5-6°F in the summer), increase by 3-5 days of heat waves, and a decline of 1-2 inches of precipitation (Advancement Project California 2019, p. 3).





Temblor legless lizards require specific temperature ranges and soil moisture levels for their survival (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 189-190). Legless lizards prefer temperatures between 59 to 77°F (15 to 25°C) (Miller 1944, p. 284, 288). They are inactive at temperatures below 55°F (13°C), and temperatures in a laboratory setting above 104°F (40°C) are lethal to *Anniella* species (Miller 1944, p. 284, 288). Studies indicate that the legless lizard prefers temperatures which are lower than basking lizards and that they adapted to more activity during the morning or late afternoon when the temperatures are cooler (Bury and Balgooyen 1976, p. 152, 154). Rising temperatures and the increasing frequency of heat waves could decrease the amount of time they are actively feeding on or near the surface, negatively impacting their ability to hunt and mate, resulting in lower reproductive output.

Temperature regulates the key aspects of reptile life history, such as sex determination and incubation, and stress related to temperature rise is predicted to exacerbate population declines and lower global reptile diversity (Mitchell and Janzen 2010, p. 129-140). While it is not known at this time exactly how temperature changes from climate change will affect the Temblor legless lizard in regard to sex determination, it is known that male legless lizard's sperm matures throughout the fall and winter and the females experience ovulation from May to June (Goldberg and Miller 1985, p. 618), indicating that sexual reproduction is temperature and seasonally dependent.

A set moisture level in the sand is necessary for proper skin shedding to ensure that sloughing occurs around the face and the eyes for hunting and eating. If the sand is too dry, the shedding could stick to the new skin, which proves especially difficult for hunting if it covers the eyes and limits vision, potentially starving the lizard (Miller 1944, p. 277). The increase in extreme precipitation events, including the increase in heavy downpours and drought intensity, could change soil moisture levels or prey availability in ways that are harmful to these lizards. In addition, heavy flooding could drown lizards in low-lying habitat areas. The on-going drought in the state of California has likely already suppressed legless lizard populations (Hammerson 2019, p. 1-7).

Reptiles are vulnerable to the rapid rate of climate change because of their limited dispersal abilities (Gibbons et al. 2000, p. 660). Studies have already linked climate change to reptile range shifts (Moreno-Rueda et al. 2011; Hatten et al. 2016) and population extirpations (Whitfield et al. 2007, p. 3252-8356; Sinervo et al. 2010). If warming continues at the current rate, 20% of lizard species worldwide could be driven out of their thermal niches by 2080 and face a high risk of extinction (Sinervo et al. 2010, p. 894). Indeed geological evidence points towards historical shifts in climate having detrimental effects on ectotherm biodiversity as these species are significantly slower at shifting into new niches compared to endotherms (Rolland et al. 2018, p. 460).

In sum, because the Temblor legless lizard is a micro-habitat specialist amid a fragmented habitat range, the extreme temperatures, extended drought and increased flooding due to climate change pose escalating threats to their survival.

E. Invasive Species

While many of the factors listed above (oil and gas development, urbanization, climate change) are themselves main threats to the Temblor legless lizard, they also facilitate spread of invasive species, which can alter community and trophic interactions (French et al. 2018, p. 948). Invasive grasses and non-native wild pigs are changing the landscape and threatening the habitat and survival of the legless lizard.

In the Temblor legless lizard's range, *Bromus* grass species have taken over rangeland, leading to widespread increases in fire frequency, where native shrubs don't recover as well (Bossard et al. 2000, p. 12). *Bromus* grasses reduce soil moisture, change the root structure making the sand unsuitable for burrowing, outcompete native plants that provide high quality microhabitats and reduce the number of insects that inhabit the sand and leaf litter that the lizards feed on (Gallegos 2019, p. 3; Jennings and Hayes 1994, p. 111). Wildfires are likely to convert chaparral to grassland dominated by non-native grasses, which alter the abundance or composition of the lizard's prey (Evelyn and Sweet 2018, p. 7), leading to higher levels of predation and a change in the composition of leaf litter that the lizard needs for burrowing and survival (Howland et al. 2016, p. 2).

Oil and gas extraction facilitate the spread of invasive species via extensive earth moving activities, construction of new roads, expansion of existing roads, heavy truck traffic, and importing of materials that could lead to unintentional introductions (Brittingham et al. 2014, p. 11034). Urbanization disturbs habitats, opening niches to invasive species and leading to invasive species introductions (Czech 2004, p. 8-9). Overgrazing by domestic livestock also facilitates the spread of invasive plant species by reducing desirable grass competitiveness and increasing invasive plants (DiTomaso et al. 2010, p. 43-47). While many of these non-native grasses are now being controlled by livestock grazing, they are normally not considered good foraging plants and can get entangled in wool or lodge in the digestive tracts of some livestock (Bossard et al. 2000, p. 74). Invasive species usually have broad climatic tolerances, large geographic ranges, and other characteristics that facilitate rapid range shifts, therefore lending them to be more successful and abundant due to climate change (Hellmann et al. 2007, p. 535).

Wild pigs are another invasive species that are a threat to the Temblor legless lizard. They are not native to California, and as their numbers have increased over the years, so has the damage they inflict on habitat. Wild pigs are opportunistic omnivores that dig and overturn soil to eat not just roots and plant life, but other small animals including insects and lizards (Frederick 1998, p. 82-83). Therefore, wild pigs compete with lizards for food sources and eat legless lizards themselves. They have a moderate to high density in the Temblor Mountain range (Sweitzer et al. 2000, p. 533). For example, in the Palo Prieto Conversation Bank, one of the four identified sites inhabited by the Temblor legless lizard, wild pigs are common and root in the litter under juniper searching for grubs and lizards (Theodore Papenfuss, personal communication).

IX. Degree and Immediacy of Threat

As demonstrated in the previous sections, the threats facing *A. alexanderae* are severe and immediate. More than 98% of the lizard's remaining restricted range is already open or

potentially available to oil and gas development. Of the four sites where the lizard has been detected, three are within oil field boundaries and surrounded by extensive oil and gas development, only two have some measure of habitat protection, and all are on extremely limited habitat patches. The IUCN recently concluded that oil and gas development could propel the Temblor legless lizard to Critically Endangered status or extinction in the near future (Hammerson 2019, pp. 2, 6). The escalating climate crisis, as well as invasive grasses and wild pigs, and habitat loss and fragmentation from crop cultivation and industrial solar projects pose additional threats. The Temblor legless lizard is "in serious danger of becoming extinct throughout all, or a significant portion, of its range" or "likely to become so "in the foreseeable future." Cal. Fish & Game Code § § 2062 & 2067.

X. Inadequacy of Existing Regulatory Mechanisms

No existing regulatory mechanism are currently in place at the national, state or local levels that adequately address the threats facing *A. alexanderae*.

A. Federal Regulatory Mechanisms

Oil and Gas Development

The Federal agencies overseeing fossil fuel development and land management in the Temblor legless lizard's range have failed to protect the lizard from the threats from oil and gas development. In 2019 the BLM under the Trump administration opened oil and gas drilling and fracking on more than one million acres of public lands and mineral estate in Central California with much of the Temblor legless lizard's habitat included. In December 2020, the BLM rushed the sale of seven oil and gas leases on public lands in Kern County. Even though one of lease parcels falls within the known habitat range of the Temblor legless lizard, the BLM failed to analyze the impacts of this oil and gas development on the species.

Moreover, U.S. federal policies aggressively promote ever greater fossil fuel production and infrastructure, threatening the Temblor legless lizard with expanding oil and gas development on federal lands and mineral estate. Due to policies favoring the fossil fuel industry, the U.S. is a dominant driver in expanding global fossil production and is currently the world's largest oil and gas producer and second-largest coal producer (SEI et al. 2021, Table 4.1). The United Nations Production Gap Report found that governments are planning to permit the production of more than double the oil, gas, and coal by 2030 than is consistent with limiting warming to the Paris Agreement climate limit of 1.5°C (SEI et al. 2020, 2021). U.S. oil and gas production is poised to expand by the largest absolute increase globally by 2030, more than twice as much as any other country (Achakulwisut and Erickson 2021, Figure 3). A separate study found that the U.S. oil and gas industry is on track to account for 60% of the world's projected growth in oil and gas production between now and 2030 (Oil Change International 2019)-the time period over which the IPCC concluded that global carbon dioxide emissions should be roughly halved to meet the 1.5°C Paris Agreement limit (IPCC 2018, p. SPM-15). U.S. policies that promote fossil fuel production and infrastructure include enabling fracking, lifting the crude oil export ban, and providing billions in government subsidies to the fossil fuel industry (Erickson et al. 2017, Oil Change International and Greenpeace 2020, SEI et al. 2021, p. 39).

In January 2021, President Biden issued a "whole of government" directive that every federal agency "avoid the most catastrophic impacts of that crisis and to seize the opportunity that tackling climate change presents" (White House 2021). The President immediately paused oil and gas leasing on federal lands and launched a review of the fossil fuel leasing and permitting program (White House 2021). However, the Biden administration is stalling out on reigning in fossil fuel development, approving nearly 2,500 new drilling permits on public lands and waters in the first six months in office, roughly the same amount approved by the Trump administration during its first entire year in office, supporting the Line 3 and Dakota Access pipelines, and maintaining strong support for carbon capture and storage that perpetuates fossil fuel extraction (Civil Society Equity Review 2021, pp. 54-55).

Climate Change

U.S. climate policy is inadequate to meet the international Paris Agreement climate limits and avoid the worst damages of the climate crisis. The U.S. is the world's biggest cumulative emitter of greenhouse gas pollution, responsible for 25% of cumulative global CO₂ emissions since 1870 (Global Carbon Project 2021, p. 85), and is currently the world's second highest emitter on an annual basis and highest emitter on a per capita basis (Global Carbon Project 2021, pp. 19-20). Estimates of an equitable U.S. "fair share" of emissions reductions needed to meet a 1.5°C climate limit equate to cutting U.S. domestic emissions by at least 70% below 2005 levels by 2030 and reaching near zero emissions by 2040, paired with financial and technological support for large-scale emissions reductions internationally (Muttitt and Kartha 2020; U.S. Climate Action Network 2020). However, the United Nations Emissions Gap Report warned that the United States is vastly off-track to limit warming to 1.5°C or even 2°C and must greatly accelerate greenhouse gas emissions reductions (UNEP 2019, p. 37). The report concluded that limiting warming to 1.5°C requires countries to strengthen their climate pledges fivefold to cut emissions by at least 7.6% per year through 2030, for a total emissions reduction of 55% between 2020 and 2030 (UNEP 2019, pp. XV, XX, 26). Importantly, the report concluded that the U.S. "in particular" must ramp up climate action to meet global climate limits and its pledge under the Paris Agreement (UNEP 2019, pp. 11, 12, Table 2.2). The report warned that further delays in emissions cuts threaten the global economy, food security, and biodiversity:

Further delaying the reductions needed to meet the goals would imply future emission reductions and removal of CO_2 from the atmosphere at such a magnitude that it would result in a serious deviation from current available pathways. This, together with necessary adaptation actions, risks seriously damaging the global economy and undermining food security and biodiversity (UNEP 2019, p. XX).

Yet as summarized by the Fourth National Climate Assessment, U.S. efforts to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions do not approach the scale needed to avoid "substantial damages to the U.S. economy, environment, and human health and well-being over the coming decades":

Climate-related risks will continue to grow without additional action. Decisions made today determine risk exposure for current and future generations and will either broaden or limit options to reduce the negative consequences of climate

change. While Americans are responding in ways that can bolster resilience and improve livelihoods, neither global efforts to mitigate the causes of climate change nor regional efforts to adapt to the impacts currently approach the scales needed to avoid substantial damages to the U.S. economy, environment, and human health and well-being over the coming decades (USGCRP 2018, p. 34).

Importantly, to meet a 1.5°C limit, most U.S. and global fossil fuels must remain undeveloped including an immediate halt to new fossil fuel production and infrastructure and a phase-out of existing production and infrastructure within the next several decades (IPCC 2018, Oil Change International 2019). However, rather than reducing fossil fuel extraction and use, U.S. policies aggressively promote ever greater fossil fuel production and infrastructure, as detailed above.

Threats Reduction and Habitat Protection

Federal regulatory mechanisms that could provide protections for Temblor legless lizards include an Endangered Species Act (ESA) listing, conservation actions for ESA listed species that overlap in range, and federal Habitat Conservation Plans that cover the species.

The Temblor legless lizard was petitioned for protection under the federal ESA in October 2020 (Center for Biological Diversity 2020). In June 2021, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service made a positive 90-day finding that the species may warrant protection under the ESA (USFWS 2021a). However, the Service must still make a 12-month finding, which is now overdue, and a final listing determination, and the species gets no federal protection until and unless it is listed.

Two proposed Habitat Conservation Plans (HCP) in the Temblor legless lizard's range do not include the Temblor legless lizard. The Block 12 Development Project (Docket No. FWS–R8–ES–2018–0116) would "develop 131 wells, including 98 oil producers and 33 steam injectors, and associated facilities on approximately 55 acres in Blocks 7, 10, and 12 of the South Belridge Oil Field" (USDOI 2020). The HCP would support an application by Aera Energy, LLC to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for a 35-year Incidental Take Permit under the federal Endangered Species Act for five species: Kern mallow, blunt-nosed leopard lizard, giant kangaroo rat, San Joaquin antelope squirrel, and San Joaquin kit fox (USDOI 2020). The project overlaps the range of the Temblor legless lizard, but the HCP and EA do not include this species. Further, the HCP and EA do not meet the requirements of the ESA and the National Environmental Policy Act. Secondly, the Planning Agreement between Aera Energy, LLC, the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, and the Department of Conservation regarding Aera's Southwest San Joaquin Valley HCP and Natural Community Conservation Plan (NCCP Planning Agreement No. 2810-2020-001-04) does not include the Temblor legless lizard.

While there are HCPs in Carlsbad and East Contra Costa County that include *Anniella pulchra*, none cover the Temblor legless lizard in Kern County (USFWS 2021b).

Much of the Temblor legless lizard habitat overlaps with the ranges of the blunt-nosed leopard lizard (*Gambelia sila*) and the San Joaquin kit fox (*Vulpes macrotis mutica*) (Parham et al. 2019, p. 6; PPCB 2020b, 2020c) which are both protected under the Endangered Species Act. Threats

to these two species include many of the same threats that the legless lizard is facing, such as oil and gas development, and habitat disturbance, destruction and fragmentation. Both species were listed as endangered in 1967 and 1971, respectively, with no critical habitat designated. While the Palo Prieto Conservation Bank provides some protections for the kit fox and a variety of other species, there is a lot of a variability in how these banks supply protection and what other activities are allowed on the property (Fox and Nino-Murcia 2005, p. 996-1007).

The San Joaquin kit fox been listed as endangered for over 50 years. Foxes move around frequently with numerous dens throughout the year and appear to have a home range of 12 square miles (USFWS 1998, p. 128). This gives them the opportunity to move when food is scarce or during periods of drought (USFWS 1998, p. 128). Unlike the kit fox, the Temblor legless lizard doesn't emigrate far (Miller 1944, p. 288), and if the resources needed for survival become scarce, the lizard may not be able to move to more suitable habitat. Kit foxes can also be found in virtually every soil type (USFWS 1998, p. 129) while the legless lizard must be in friable sand with shade cover for burrowing and hunting (Miller 1944, p. 288). Finally, kit foxes can survive within or adjacent to cropland, urbanization and oil and gas fields as long as they have an adequate prey base and den size (USFWS 1998, pp. 130, 134-136), whereas the Temblor legless lizard is a microhabitat specialist with very specific needs for survival (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 188). A 5-year review by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service states that the San Joaquin kit fox continues to face habitat loss to agriculture and urban development, has a population dynamic that fluctuates yearly, remains in isolated and highly fragmented populations, and that not all the protected habitat parcels contain the requisite contiguous acreage, vegetation and prey base to sustain kit foxes in the future (USFWS 2010a, p. 70). ESA protection for the San Joaquin kit fox is not adequate to rely on to protect the Temblor legless lizard.

The blunt-nosed leopard lizard has also been listed as endangered for over 50 years. While the Temblor legless lizard and the blunt-nosed leopard lizard share the same habitat range as well as some of the same prey and predators, they have different requirements within their habitat. The blunt-nosed leopard lizard will use several abandoned ground squirrel burrows for shelter (USFWS 1998, p. 117), moving back and forth as needed, while Temblor legless lizards construct their own burrows in the sand (Jennings and Hayes 1998, p. 108, 111). The blunt-nosed leopard lizard uses abandoned burrows and is not dependent on the smooth, fine sand that Temblor legless lizards need to burrow, move and catch prey (Miller 1944, p. 288).

In 2010 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service updated the recovery plan for the blunt-nosed leopard lizard and found that most populations continue to have low densities and unstable populations, and that the species continues to be threatened by degradation and loss of habitat throughout most of its range (USFWS 2010b, p. 3, 21, 43). Blunt-nosed leopard lizard population densities are not yet self-sustaining and the recovery criterion of at least 5,997 acres of contiguous habitat in 5 areas has not been achieved (USFWS 2010b, p. 4-15). Management plans for the blunt-nosed leopard lizard have not been approved or implemented for all the protected areas identified in the recovery plan as important to the continued survival of the lizard (USFWS 2010b, p. 6). ESA protection for the blunt-nosed leopard lizard is not adequate to rely on for protection of the Temblor legless lizard.

While some of the habitat range and threats for the San Joaquin kit fox and the blunt-nosed leopard lizard are similar and overlap with the Temblor legless lizard, the legless lizard has more specific microhabitat needs based on sand and moisture level (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 189-190; Miller 1944, p. 277) that are not addressed by protections for the kit fox and leopard lizard. Both of the 5-year review summaries and evaluations for the San Joaquin kit fox and the blunt-nosed leopard lizard show that these species are not recovering themselves and therefore cannot be relied upon as surrogates for protection of the Temblor legless lizard. Due to their cryptic nature, Temblor legless lizard locations will be unknown without proper surveying that would come with Endangered Species Act protection.

B. State Regulatory Mechanisms

Oil and Gas Development

State agencies overseeing projects and land management in the Temblor legless lizard's range have failed to protect the lizard from the threats due to oil and gas development. As detailed above, CalGEM continues to approve thousands of new oil and gas permits each year, a substantial portion of which are in the 31 oil fields and adjacent areas overlapping the lizard's range. Kern County, where the majority of remaining Temblor legless lizard habitat is located, is attempting to streamline oil and gas permitting to make future approvals for drilling faster and hidden from public scrutiny.

In April 2021, Governor Newsom directed CalGEM to initiate regulatory action to end the issuance of new permits for fracking by January 2024 and requested that the California Air Resources Board analyze pathways to phase out oil extraction across the state by no later than 2045. While ending new permits for fracking in 2024 is an important step, other common extreme extraction methods such as cyclic steaming, steamflood, and waterflood are still permitted and will enable continued oil and gas extraction in the lizard's range. Furthermore, an oil and gas production phaseout by 2045 would still allow extensive oil and gas development across the lizard's range during the ensuing 24 years.

Climate Change

California's currently established climate goals are not consistent with the state doing its fair share to limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C under the Paris Agreement. SB32 calls for reductions in greenhouse gas emissions of 40% below 1990 levels by 2030. California Executive Order S-3-05 calls for a reduction in greenhouse emissions of 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. Executive Order B-55-18 calls for the state "to achieve carbon neutrality as soon as possible, and no later than 2045, and achieve and maintain net negative emissions thereafter."

However, the landmark 2018 report from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change established that to limit warming to 1.5°C, global CO₂ emissions must be cut in half by 2030 and reach near zero by 2050 (IPCC 2018, pp. 12-14, Figure 2.6). A recent analysis found that, for the U.S. to do its fair share given historical emissions and capability, it should in effect reduce its CO₂ emissions by a total of 195% below 2005 levels by 2030, with at least 70% of those emissions reductions achieved within the U.S. by 2030 and the remainder through support to

developing countries and their emissions reduction programs (U.S. Climate Action Network 2020). Because California represents the largest share of the U.S. economy, it too has an outsized responsibility to reduce its emissions, including a rapid decarbonization of its energy sector during this decade. A target compatible with limiting warming below 1.5°C would mean California strengthening its goals to reduce emissions by ~70% by 2030 through a just and equitable transition to 100% clean energy, and reaching near zero emissions by 2040.

Threats Reduction and Habitat Protection

State regulatory mechanisms that theoretically could provide protections for Temblor legless lizards include state listing as a Species of Special Concern, consideration under the California Environmental Quality Act, or any state Natural Community Conservation Plans that cover the species.

The lizard is listed as a Species of Special Concern by CDFW due a number of factors such as habitat loss and fragmentation and climate change (Thomson et al. 2016, p. 189). However, this status provides no actual legal protections. The intent of Species of Special Concern status is to focus attention, stimulate research, and achieve conservation and recovery of species before they meet requirements to be listed on a state or federal level. However, the designation offers no substantive protections.

The Natural Community Conservation Plan (NCCP) is a California Department of Fish and Wildlife program that takes a broad-based approach to planning for the protection and perpetuation of biological diversity (CDFW 2021b, p.1). East San Diego County and Bakersfield are listed as having NCCPs for other species of *Anniella*, but there are no NCCPs that cover the Temblor legless lizard (CDFW 2021c, p. 9, 46).

The environmental review process under the California Environmental Quality Act, or CEQA (California Public Resources Code §§ 21000-21177), requires state agencies, local governments and special districts to evaluate and disclose impacts from "projects" in the state. CEQA declares that it is the policy of the state to prevent "the elimination of fish or wildlife species due to man's activities, ensure that fish and wildlife populations do not drop below self-perpetuating levels, and preserve for future generations representations of all plant and animal communities" (California Public Resources Code, section 21001(c)). The CEQA process is triggered when discretionary activities of state agencies may have a significant effect on the environment. When the CEQA process is triggered, it requires full disclosure of the potential environmental impacts of proposed projects.

The operative document for major projects is usually the Environmental Impact Report. Under CEQA, Species of Special Concern must be considered during the environmental review process, with an analysis of the project impacts on the species if they meet the criteria of sensitivity under Section 15380 of the CEQA Guidelines. However, project impacts to legless lizards might not be analyzed if project proponents claim insignificant impacts to non-listed species, the project does not have population-level or regional effects, or the project impacts a small proportion of the legless lizard's range.

C. Local Regulatory Mechanisms

Oil and Gas Development

As detailed above, Kern County is attempting to "streamline" oil and gas permitting in the county under an ordinance that would not require further environmental review or public notice for more than 40,000 new oil and gas projects over the coming decades. The county's environmental impact report fails to adequately disclose, evaluate, and mitigate harms to the Temblor legless lizard.

Threats Reduction and Habitat Protection

The Kern County General Plan generally states that all threatened and endangered species should be protected in accordance with state and federal laws and that the county "should work closely with state and federal agencies to assure that discretionary projects avoid or minimize impacts to fish, wildlife, and botanical resources" (Kern County 2009, p. 67). Policies under the Environmental Impact Report of the Kern County General plan support CEQA to determine the impact and necessary mitigation measure to reduce the level of impact to the special status species on an individual project level analysis basis (Kern County 2004, p. 4-4-39). The general plan also states that Species of Special Concern are an informal designation that does not provide legal protection but notes that they are recognized as sensitive (Kern County 2004, p. 4-4-21). No Anniella lizard species are recognized in the Kern County General Plan (Kern County 2004). Other protection policies are couched in qualifiers such as "when feasible" and that "discretionary projects avoid or minimize impacts to fish, wildlife and botanical resources." The Kern County general plan provides little protection for the legless lizard or its habitat.

XI. Recommended Management and Recovery Actions

The Temblor legless lizard requires immediate reductions in the key threats to its survival, particularly immediately stopping new oil and gas development in its restricted range and phasing out existing oil and gas development. The lizard also requires strong habitat protections to reduce other threats, including limiting habitat conversion by urban development, cropland conversion, and industrial solar projects; strong climate action; and limiting the spread and impacts of invasive plants and predators. Key management and recovery actions include:

- 1. The governor directs CalGEM to end new approvals for oil and gas extraction, fossil fuel infrastructure, and other fossil fuel projects in California, and begin a phase-out of existing oil and gas production and infrastructure in line with the 1.5°C Paris Agreement climate limit.
- 2. The governor acts now, not in 2024, to ban fracking and related extreme techniques that enable and amplify the damage from fossil fuel extraction.
- 3. The governor declares a climate emergency and takes all necessary action to set California on a path to full decarbonization of our economy (e.g. banning the sale of new fossil fuel vehicles by 2030 and requiring the generation of all electricity from carbonfree sources by 2030).

- 4. CDFW prepares a recovery plan for *A. alexanderae* pursuant to Cal. Fish & Game Code § 2079.1.
- 5. CDFW acquires additional ecological reserves to protect land where Temblor legless lizards are known to occur.
- 6. CDFW works with local jurisdictions within the range of *A. alexanderae* to develop NCCPs that protect from development all remaining suitable habitat on private lands.
- 7. The California Department of Parks and Recreation seeks to acquire habitat to expand existing state parks for protection and restoration of *A. alexanderae* habitat.
- 8. CDFW expands its cooperative work with relevant federal agencies (NPS, DoD, BLM, USFWS) to protect the Temblor legless lizard on federal land.
- 9. CDFW works with the University of California and other institutions and agencies to develop effective measures to control invasive grasses and wild pigs in *A. alexanderae* habitat.

XII. Conclusion

Anniella alexanderae, the Temblor legless lizard, is a recently described species split from other Anniella legless lizards. There are only four known sites where this lizard persists in a restricted range along the base of the Temblor Mountains estimated at only 1,720 km². Three of the four known sites are surrounded by oil and gas development, three are on private lands, and only two have some measure of habitat protection. The Temblor legless lizard possesses many of the characteristics of a species at risk of extinction. It is a habitat specialist, has a restricted and fragmented distribution within its narrow range, and faces immediate, high-magnitude threats. While the CDFW and the IUCN recognize that this species is under threat and in need of protection, existing regulatory mechanisms are inadequate to protect the lizard from oil and gas development, urban development, climate change, invasive species and other threats to its continued existence. This leaves the lizard vulnerable to local extinction with little chance of recolonization of habitat, which is compounded by the lizard's poor ability to disperse, and in jeopardy of global extinction. Based on these factors that have already resulted in considerable habitat loss and are ongoing today, experts on the species recommend listing under the California Endangered Species Act and U.S. Endangered Species Act. Based on the best available scientific information, the species qualifies for protection under the California Endangered Species Act as an endangered species, and would benefit greatly and immediately from such protection.

XIII. References

Achakulwisut, Ploy and Peter Erickson. 2021. Trends in fossil fuel extraction: Implications for a shared effort to align global fossil fuel production with climate limits, Stockholm Environment Institute Working Paper (April 2021). <u>www.sei.org/publications/trends-in-fossil-fuel-extraction/</u>.

Advancement Project California. 2019. Kern County's Future in the Face of Climate Change, Policy Brief. <u>https://www.advancementprojectca.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/AP-Kern-Climate-Adaptation-May-2019-8.5-x-11-single-page.pdf</u>.

Allred, B.W., W.K. Smith, D. Twidwell, J.H. Haggerty, S.W. Running, D.E. Naugle, and S.D. Fuhlendorf. 2015. Ecosystem Services Lost to Oil and Gas in North America. Science 348: 401-402.

Bayne, E.M. et al. 2008. Impacts of chronic anthropogenic noise from energy-sector activity on the abundance of songbirds in the boreal forest. Conservation Biology 22: 1186-1193.

Bedsworth, Louise, Dan Cayan, Guido Franco, Leah Fisher, Sonya Ziaja. (California Governor's Office of Planning and Research, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, California Energy Commission, California Public Utilities Commission). 2018. Statewide Summary Report. California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment. Publication number: SUMCCCA4-2018-013. https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Statewide_Reports-SUM-CCCA4-2018-013 Statewide Summary Report_ADA.pdf.

Bossard, C.C., J.M. Randall, and M.C. Hoshovksy. 2000. Invasive Plants of California's Wildlands. University of California Press.

Brittingham, M.C., K.O. Maloney, A.M. Farag, D.D. Harper, and Z.H. Bowen. 2014. Ecological Risks of Shale Oil and Gas Development to Wildlife, Aquatic Resources and their Habitats. Environmental Science and Technology 48: 11034-11047.

Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2019. Bakersfield Field Office Hydraulic Fracturing Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (October 2019). https://eplanning.blm.gov/public_projects/nepa/100601/20006500/250007620/FINAL_Bakersfield_Hydraulic_Fracturing_SEIS_10-25-19.pdf.

Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2020. December 2020, Oil and Gas Lease Sale Environmental Assessment DOI-BLM-CA-C060-2020-0120, US Department of the Interior, Bakersfield Field Office.

https://eplanning.blm.gov/public_projects/2000634/200384596/20024911/250031115/DOI-BLM-CA-C060-2020-0120-EA%202020.08.26.pdf.

Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2021a. Chevron 14 APD's MWSS Sec. 22. April 28, 2021. https://eplanning.blm.gov/eplanning-ui/project/2013470/510.

Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2021b. Berry; 50 Southwestern APDs in Midway Sunset. July 19, 2021. <u>https://eplanning.blm.gov/eplanning-ui/project/2014875/510.</u>

Bury, R.B. and T.G. Balgooyen. 1976. Temperature Selectivity in the Legless Lizard, *Anniella pulchra*. Copeia 1976: 152-155.

Butt, Nathalie et al. 2013. Biodiversity risks from fossil fuel extraction. Science 342: 425-426.

California Council on Science and Technology (CCST). 2015. An Independent Scientific Assessment of Well Stimulation in California, Volume II, Potential Environmental Impacts of Hydraulic Fracturing and Acid Stimulations.

California Department of Conservation (CDC). 2015. SB4 Environmental Impact Report. Chapter 7: Description of the Project, Analysis of Oil and Gas Well Stimulation Treatments in California.

California Department of Conservation (CDC). 2019. Division of Oil, Gas, and Geothermal Resources. Order to Pay a Civil Penalty. No. 1163.

California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). 2019. Cal Spill Watch. Cymric Oil Field Incident. <u>https://calspillwatch.wordpress.com/tag/cymric-oil-field-incident/.</u>

California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). 2021a. Pleasant Valley Ecological Reserve. <u>https://wildlife.ca.gov/Lands/Places-to-Visit/Pleasant-Valley-ER#10772135-history</u>

California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). 2021b. Natural Community Conservation Planning. <u>https://wildlife.ca.gov/conservation/planning/NCCP</u>.

California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). 2021c. Conservation Plans by Species. https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=108719&inline.

California Geologic Energy Management Division (CalGEM). 2021a. WellSTAR database. <u>https://wellstar-public.conservation.ca.gov/.</u>

California Geologic Energy Management Division (CalGEM). 2021b. Oil Field Surface Expressions. <u>https://www.conservation.ca.gov/calgem/Pages/Chevron-Cymric-oil-spill.aspx.</u>

California Herps. 2021. Temblor Legless Lizard - *Anniella alexanderae*. California Herps - A Guide to the Amphibians and Reptiles of California. <u>http://www.californiaherps.com/lizards/pages/a.alexanderae.html</u>.

California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB). 2021a. Special Animals List. October 2021. California Department of Fish and Wildlife. Sacramento, CA. <u>https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=109406&inline.</u>

California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB). 2021b. Maps and Data. California Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Maps-and-Data</u>.

Center for Biological Diversity. 2019. California Water Board Finds Oil-Industry Contaminants in Water Wells, <u>https://www.biologicaldiversity.org/news/press_releases/2019/oil-industry-pollution-04-11-2019.php</u>

Center for Biological Diversity. 2020. Petition To List The Temblor Legless Lizard (*Anniella alexanderae*) As A Threatened Or Endangered Species Under The Endangered Species Act And To Concurrently Designate Critical Habitat (October 2020),

https://biologicaldiversity.org/species/reptiles/pdfs/Temblor-Legless-Lizard-Petition-10-20-20.pdf.

Center for Biological Diversity. 2021. New Analysis: Gov. Newsom Urgently Needs to Stop Permitting New Oil, Gas Wells in California. November 1, 2021. <u>https://biologicaldiversity.org/w/news/press-releases/new-analysis-gov-newsom-urgently-needs-</u> to-stop-permitting-new-oil-gas-wells-in-california-2021-11-01/

Center for Biological Diversity v. U.S. Bureau of Land Management, No. 2:20-CV-00371 DSF, 2020.

Center for Biological Diversity et al. v. U.S. Bureau of Land Management et al., No. 21-cv-475, 2021.

Cheek, A.O. 2006. Subtle Sabotage: Endocrine Disruption in Wild Populations. Revista de Biologia Tropical: 1-19.

Civil Society Equity Review. 2021. A Fair Shares Phase Out: A Civil Society Equity Review on an Equitable Global Phase Out of Fossil Fuels. <u>http://civilsocietyreview.org/report2021/.</u>

Colborn, T. et al. 2012. Natural gas operations from a public health perspective. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment 17: 1039-1056.

Committee for a Better Arvin et al. v. County of Kern et al., 2021

Consumer Watchdog and FracTracker Alliance. 2021. CA Dangerously Close To Approving 10,000 Oil Drilling Permits since Newsom Assumed Office; Groups Demand Gov. Deliver On Putting Oil Drilling Into Rear View Mirror. October 6, 2021.

https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/ca-dangerously-close-to-approving-10-000-oildrilling-permits-since-newsom-assumed-office-groups-demand-gov-deliver-on-putting-oildrilling-into-rear-view-mirror-301394723.html.

Crain, D.A. and L.J. Guilette, Jr. 1998. Reptiles as Models of Contaminant-Induced Endocrine Disruption. Animal Reproduction Science 53: 77-86.

Czech, B. 2004. Urbanization as a Threat to Biodiversity: Trophic Theory, Economic Geography, and Implications for Conservation Land Acquisition. Proceedings of a Symposium at the Society for Conservation Biology 2004 Annual Meeting: 8-13.

DiGiulio, D.C. et al. 2021. Vulnerability of Groundwater Resources Underlying Unlined Produced Water Ponds in the Tulare Basin of the San Joaquin Valley, California. Environmental Science and Technology 55: 14782–14794. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c02056</u>.

DiTomaso, J.M., R.A. Masters, and V.F. Peterson. 2010. Rangeland Invasive Plant Management. Rangelands 32: 43-47.

Earthworks. 2021. California Oil and Gas Waste Report: The failure to safely manage oil and gas waste. <u>https://earthworks.org/publications/wasting-ca/.</u>

Endangered Species Coalition. 2012. Fueling Extinction: How Dirty Energy Drives Wildlife to the Brink. <u>https://www.biologicaldiversity.org/publications/papers/Fueling_Extinction.pdf</u>.

Erickson, Peter et al. 2017. Effect of subsidies to fossil fuel companies on United States crude oil production. Nature Energy 2: 891-898.

Evelyn, C.J. and S.S. Sweet. 2018. California Legless Lizard (*Anniella pulchra*) sensu lato: Draft Species Account and Evaluation Form for Pacific Southwest Region Management Plan. Prepared for USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Region.

Fiehler, C.M. and B.L. Cypher. 2011. Ecosystem Analysis of Oilfields in Western Kern County, California. Prepared for U.S. Bureau of Land Management.

Fiehler, C.M. et al. 2017. Effects of oil and gas development on vertebrate community composition in the southern San Joaquin Valley, California. Global Ecology and Conservation 9: 131-141.

Fleming, John et al. 2021. Killer Crude: How California Produces Some of the Dirtiest, Most Dangerous Oil in the World. Center for Biological Diversity. https://www.biologicaldiversity.org/programs/climate_law_institute/pdfs/June-2021-Killer-Crude-Rpt.pdf.

Fox, J. and A. Nino-Murcia. 2005. Status of Species Conservation Banking in the United States. Conservation Biology: 996-1007.

Francis, C.D. and J.R. Barber. 2013. A framework for understanding noise impacts on wildlife: an urgent conservation priority. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 11: 305-313.

Frankson, R., L.E. Stevens, K.E. Kunkel, S. Champion, D. Easterling, W. Sweet. 2017. California State Climate Summary. NOAA. <u>https://statesummaries.ncics.org/ca</u>

Frederick, J.M. 1998. Overview of Wild Pig Damage in California. Proceedings of the Eighteenth Vertebrate pest Conference 45: 82-86.

French, S.S., A.C. Web, S.B. Hudson, and E.E. Virgin. 2018. Town and Country Reptiles: A Review of Reptilian Responses to Urbanization. Integrative and Comparative Biology 58: 948-966.

Gallegos, M.A. 2019. Habitat Preference and Distribution of the Northern California Legless Lizard (*Anniella pulchra*) in Eastern Contra Costa County. U.C. Berkeley.

Gibbons, J.W., D.E. Scott, T.J. Ryan, K.A. Buhlmann, T.D. Tuberville, B.S. Metts, J.L. Greene, T. Mills, Y. Leiden, S. Poppy, and C.T. Winne. 2000. The Global Decline of Reptiles, Déjà vu Amphibians. Bioscience 50: 653-666.

Global Carbon Project. 2021. Global Carbon Budget 2021. https://www.globalcarbonproject.org/carbonbudget/21/files/GCP_CarbonBudget_2021.pdf Goldberg, S.R. and C.M. Miller. 1985. Reproduction of the Silvery Legless Lizard, *Anniella pulchra* (Anniellidae), in Southern California. The Southwestern Naturalist 30: 617-619.

Goldberg, Ted. 2018. *State Says It Has No Idea How Long It Will Take to Clean Up Chevron's Kern County Oil Spill*, KQED (Aug. 23, 2019). <u>https://www.kqed.org/news/11769242/chevron-kern-county-cymric-mckittrick-oil-spill-clean-up</u>.

Gonzales, P., G.M. Garfin, D.D. Breshears, K.M. Brooks, H.E. Brown, E.H. Elias, A. Gunasekara, N. Huntly, J.K. Maldonado, N.J. Mantua, H.G. Margolis, S. McAfee, B.R. Middleton, B.H. Udall. 2018. Southwest. In *Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II*: 1101-1184.

Hammerson, G.A. 2019. *Anniella alexanderae*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2019. <u>https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/89929911/89929920.</u>

Harfoot, Michael B. et al. 2018. Present and future biodiversity risks from fossil fuel exploitation. Conservation Letters 11: e12448.

Hatten, J.R., J.T. Giermakowski, J.A. Holes, E.M. Nowak, M.J. Johnson, K.E. Ironside, C. Van Riper, M. Peters, C. Truettner, and K.L. Cole. 2016. Identifying Bird and Reptile Vulnerabilities to Climate Change in the Southwestern United States. U.S. Geological Survey.

Hellmann, J.J., J.E. Byers, B.G. Bierwagen, and J.S. Dukes. 2007. Five Potential Consequences of Climate Change for Invasive Species. Conservation Biology 22: 534-543.

Howland, B.W.A., D. Stojanovic, I.J. Gordon, A.D. Manning, D. Fletcher, and D.B. Lindenmayer. 2014. Eaten Out of House and Home: Impacts of Grazing on Ground-Dwelling Reptiles in Australian Grasslands and Grassy Woodlands. PLOS One 9: 1-25.

Howland, B.W.A., D. Stojanovic, I.J. Gordon, D. Fletcher, M. Snape, I.A. Stirnemann, and D.B. Lindenmayer. 2016. Habitat Preference of the Striped Legless Lizard: Implications of Grazing by Native Herbivores and Livestock for Conservation of Grassland Biota. Austral Ecology: 455-464.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2018. Global Warming of 1.5°C, an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. http://www.ipcc.ch/report/sr15/.

Jennings, M.R. and M.P. Hayes. 1994. Amphibian and Reptile Species of Special Concern in California. Prepared for California Department of Fish and Game.

Johnson, N. 2010. Pennsylvania energy impacts assessment: Report 1: Marcellus shale natural gas and wind. Nature Conservancy – Pennsylvania Chapter. http://www.tcgasmap.org/media/PA%20Assessment%20of%20Gas%20Impacts%20TNC.pdf.

Kern County. 2004. Kern County General Plan. Recirculated Draft Program Environmental Impact Report. <u>https://psbweb.co.kern.ca.us/planning/pdfs/kcgp/KCGP_RPEIR_vol1.pdf</u>.

Kern County. 2009. Kern County General Plan. Kern County Land Use, Open Space, and Conservation Element.

https://psbweb.co.kern.ca.us/planning/pdfs/kcgp/KCGPChp1LandUse.pdf.

Kern County. 2015. Draft Environmental Impact Report. Volume 1, Chapters 1 through 11. Revisions to the Kern County Zoning Ordinance – 2015 (C) Focused on Oil and Gas Local Permitting. Kern County Planning and Community Development Department.

Kern County. 2019. Kern County Oil and Gas Permitting Program: Annual Progress Report. Kern County Planning and Natural Resources Department. <u>https://psbweb.co.kern.ca.us/planning/pdfs/oil_gas/kern_oil_gas_annual_progress_report_2019.p</u> <u>df</u>.

Kern County. 2021a. Final Supplemental Recirculated Environmental Impact Report (2020/2021) for Revisions to Title 19 – Kern County Zoning Ordinance (2020-A) Focused on Oil and Gas Local Permitting. January 2021. <u>https://kernplanning.com/sreir2020-oil-gas-zoning-revisions/</u>

Kern County. 2021b. Energy and Natural Resources. Kern County Administration Office. <u>https://www.kerncounty.com/government/county-administrative-office/cao/economic-development-clusters/energy-and-natural-resources#:~:text=Kern%20County%20is%20quickly%20becoming,1.3%20million%20megawat ts)%20each%20year.</u>

King and Gardiner Farms et al. v. County of Kern et al., 45 Cal.App.5th 814 (2020).

Kleist, Nathan J. et al. 2018. Chronic anthropogenic noise disrupts glucocorticoid signaling and has multiple effects on fitness in an avian community. PNAS E648-E657.

Kunc, H.P. and R. Schmidt. 2019 The effects of anthropogenic noise on animals: a metaanalysis. Biology Letters 15: 20190649. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2019.0649</u>.

Levy, O., L.B. Buckley, T.H. Keitt, and M.J. Angilletta Jr. 2016. Ontogeny Constrains Phenology: Opportunities for Activity and Reproduction Interact to Dictate Potential Phenologies in a Changing Climate. Ecology Letters 19: 620-628.

MacNally R. and G.W. Brown. 2001. Reptiles and Habitat Fragmentation in the Box-ironbark Forests of Central Victoria, Australia: Predictions, Compositional Change and Faunal Nestedness. Oecologia 128: 116-125.

Miller, C.M. 1944. Ecological Relations and Adaptions of the Limbless Lizards of the Genus Anniella. Ecological Monographs 14: 271-289.

Mitchell, N.J. and F.J. Janzen. 2010. Temperature-Dependent Sex Determination and Contemporary Climate Change. Sexual Development 4: 129-140.

Moreno-Rueda, G., J.M. Pleguezuelos, M. Pizarro, and A. Montori. 2011. Northward Shifts of the Distributions of Spanish Reptiles in Association with Climate Change. Conservation Biology 26: 278-283.

Muttitt, Greg and Sivan Kartha. 2020. Equity, climate justice and fossil fuel extraction: principles for a managed phase out. Climate Policy 20: 1024-1042.

NatureServe Explorer. 2021. *Anniella alexanderae*: Temblor Legless Lizard. <u>https://explorer.natureserve.org/Taxon/ELEMENT_GLOBAL.2.960627/Anniella_alexanderae</u>.

Norris, D.O. and K.H. Lopez. 2011. Hormones and Reproduction of Vertebrates: Reptiles. Chapter 14: Endocrine Disruption of Reproduction in Reptiles: 373-396.

Office of Governor Newsom. 2021. Governor Newsom Takes Action to Phase Out Oil Extraction in California (April 23, 2021). <u>https://www.gov.ca.gov/2021/04/23/governor-newsom-takes-action-to-phase-out-oil-extraction-in-california/</u>.

Oil Change International (OCI). 2019. Drilling Toward Disaster: Why U.S. Oil and Gas Expansion Is Incompatible with Climate Limits (January 2019). <u>http://priceofoil.org/drilling-towards-disaster</u>.

Oil Change International and Greenpeace. 2020. Policy Briefing: Carbon Impacts of Reinstation the U.S. Crude Export Ban (January 2020). <u>http://priceofoil.org/2020/01/28/crude-export-ban-carbon.</u>

Palo Prieto Conservation Bank (PPCB). 2020a. Conservation. http://www.paloprietocb.com/#conservation.

Palo Prieto Conservation Bank (PPCB). 2020b. San Joaquin Kit fox. http://www.paloprietocb.com/sanjoaquinkitfox.

Palo Prieto Conservation Bank (PPCB). 2020c. Herps. http://www.paloprietocb.com/herps.

Papenfuss, T.J. and J.F. Parhum. 2013. Four New Species of California Legless Lizard (*Anniella*). Breviora Museum of Comparative Zoology: 536.

Parham, James F. and Theodore J. Papenfuss. 2009. High genetic diversity among fossorial lizard populations (*Anniella pulchra*) in a rapidly developing landscape (Central California). Conservation Genetics 10: 169-176.

Parham, J.F., M.S. Koo, W.B. Simison, A. Perkins, T.J. Papenfuss, and E.N. Tennant. 2019. Conservation Assessment of the California Legless Lizard (*Anniella*). Prepared for California Department of Fish and Wildlife.

Patricelli, G.L. et al. 2013. Recommended management strategies to limit anthropogenic noise impacts on greater sage-grouse in Wyoming. Human-Wildlife Interactions 7: 230.

Pichtel, J. 2016. Oil and Gas Production Wastewater: Soil Contamination and Pollution Prevention. Applied and Environmental Soil Science 2707989: 1-25.

Pickell, Paul D. et al. 2014. Monitoring forest change in landscapes under-going rapid energy development: challenges and new perspectives. Land 3: 617-638.

Rolland, J., D. Silvestro, D. Schulter, A. Guisan, O. Broennimann, and N. Salamin. 2018. The Impact of Endothermy on the Climatic Niche Evolution and the Distribution of Vertebrate Diversity. Nature Ecology and Evolution 2: 459-464.

SEI, IISD, ODI, E3G, and UNEP. 2020. The Production Gap: The discrepancy between countries' planned fossil fuel production and global production levels consistent with limiting warming to 1.5°C or 2°C. <u>http://productiongap.org</u>.

SEI, IISD, ODI, E3G, and UNEP. 2021. The Production Gap Report 2021 (2021), <u>http://productiongap.org/2021report.</u>

Sinervo, B., Méndez-de-la-Cruz F, Miles DB, Heulin B, Bastiaans E, Villagrán-Santa Cruz M, Lara-Resendiz R, Martínez-Méndez N, Calderón-Espinosa ML, Meza-Lázaro RN, Gadsden H, Avila LJ, Morando M, De la Riva IJ, Sepulveda PV, Duarte Rocha CF, Ibargüengoytía N, Puntriano CA, Massot M, Lepetz V, Oksanen TA, Chapple DG, Bauer AM, Branch WR, Clobert J, Sites Jr JW. 2010. Erosion of Lizard Diversity by Climate Change and Altered Thermal Niches. Science 328: 894-899.

Souther, S., M.W. Tingley, V.D. Popescu, D.T.S. Hayman, M.E. Ryan, T.A. Graves, B. Hartl, and K. Terrell. 2014. Biotic Impacts of Energy Development from Shale: Research Priorities and Knowledge Gaps. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 12: 330-338.

Stebbins, R.C. and S.M. McGinnis. 2012. Field Guide to Amphibians and Reptiles of California. Revised Edition. Berkeley, California. University of California Press.

Stringfellow W.T. et al. 2017. Comparison of chemical-use between hydraulic fracturing, acidizing, and routine oil and gas development. PLoS ONE 12: e0175344.

Sweitzer, R.A., D. Van Vuren, I.A. Gardner, W.M. Boyce, and J.D. Waithman. 2000. Estimating Sizes of Wild Pig Populations in the North and Central Coast Regions of California. Wildlife Management 64: 531-543.

Templeton, A.R., K. Shaw, E. Routman, and S.K. Davis. 1990. The Genetic Consequences of Habitat Fragmentation. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 77: 13-27.

Thomson, R.C., A.N. Wright, and H.B. Shaffer. 2016. California Amphibian and Reptile Species of Special Concern: 186-191.

Thorne, J.H., J. Wraithwall, G. Franco. 2018. California's Changing Climate 2018. California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment, California Natural Resources Agency.

Tuberville, T.D., K.M. Andrews, J.H. Sperry, and A.M. Grosse. 2018. Use of the NatureServe Climate Change Vulnerability Index as an Assessment Tool for Reptiles and Amphibians: Lessons Learned. Environmental Management 56: 822-834.

Turney, D. and V. Fthenakis. 2011. Environmental Impacts from the Installation and Operation of Large-Scale Solar Power Plants. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 15: 3261-3270.

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). 2019. Emissions Gap Report 2019. UNEP, Nairobi (2019). <u>https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2019</u>.

U.S. Climate Action Network. 2020. The U.S. Climate Fair Share (2020). https://usfairshare.org/backgrounder/.

U.S. Department of the Interior (USDOI). 2020. Block 12 Development Project, Kern County, California; Draft Environmental Assessment and Draft Habitat Conservation Plan. Fish and Wildlife Service, Interior.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 1998. Recovery Plan for the Upland Species of the San Joaquin Valley, Region 1, Portland, OR. http://ecos.fws.gov/docs/recovery_plan/980930a.pdf.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2010a. San Joaquin Kit Fox (*Vulpes macrotis mutica*) 5-Year Review: Summary and Evaluation. https://www.cabi.org/isc/FullTextPDF/2011/20117202425.pdf.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2010b. Blunt-Nosed Leopard Lizard (*Gambelia sila*), 5-Year Review: Summary and Evaluation. <u>https://biologistshandbook.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/5-Year-Review-2010.pdf</u>.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2021a. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; 90-Day Findings for Two Species. Federal Register 86 (115): 32241-32243 (Thursday, June 17, 2021).

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2021b. Environmental Conservation Online System. Habitat Conservation Plans. <u>https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/report/conservation-plans-region-summary?region=8&type=HCP</u>.

U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP). 2018. Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States, Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II. <u>https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/</u>.

Weller, C. et al. 2002. Fragmenting Our Lands: The Ecological Footprint from Oil and Gas Development. The Wilderness Society 80221(303):1-30.

White House. 2021. Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad, Exec. Order No. 14,008, 86 Fed. Reg. 7619 (Jan. 27, 2021). <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/27/executive-order-on-tackling-the-climate-crisis-at-home-and-abroad</u>.

Whitfield, S.M., K.E. Bell, T. Philippi, M. Sasa, F. Bolanos, G. Chaves, J.M. Savage, and M.A. Donnelly. 2007. Amphibian and Reptile Declines over 35 Years at La Selva, Costa Rica. PNAS 104: 3252-8356.

Wilson, Steven F. 2016. Managing zone-of-influence effects of oil and gas activities on terrestrial wildlife and habitats in British Columbia. Journal of Ecosystems and Management 16: 1-14.

Wilson, J. and L. Younes. 2020. Dozens of little-known California Oil Spills Have Earned Companies Millions of Dollars. Desert Sun. <u>https://www.desertsun.com/in-</u> <u>depth/news/2020/09/18/california-oil-companies-profit-illegal-spills-state-lets-</u> <u>them/3456808001/</u>

Wogan, G.O.U., J. Kapelke, K.A. Feldheim, T.J. Papenfuss, and R.C.K. Bowie. 2015. Isolation and Characterization of Nine Tetranucleoide Microsatellite Loci for the Secretive Limbless Lizards of the Genus *Anniella* (Anguidae). Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 62: 155-158.

Zychowski, G.V. and C.A.J. Godard-Codding. 2016. Reptilian Exposure to Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Associated Effects. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 36: 25-35.